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The Honourable Annastacia Palaszczuk MP
Premier and Minister for the Arts
Executive Building
100 George Street
BRISBANE QLD 4000

16 September 2015

Dear Premier

I am pleased to present the Annual Report 2014−15 and Annual Financial Statements2014−15
for the Queensland Family and Child Commission (QFCC) as required by section 63 of

the Financial Accountability Act 2009. This is the inaugural Annual Report for the QFCC,
which commenced operation on 1 July 2014 in place of the former Commission for Children
and Young People and Child Guardian. This occurred as a result of recommendations made
by the Queensland Child Protection Commission of Inquiry (QCPCOI).

In 2014−15 the QFCC implemented a Strategic Plan (2014−18) and commenced work on a
number of major projects related to the QCPCOI, including completing the first phase of a
state−wide public education campaign designed to encourage help−seeking behaviours
among at−risk families and a shared responsibility for protecting children and young people.

The vision driving all our work is for Queensland children and young people to be safe, cared
for and protected by capable parents and resilient families and communities.

I certify that this Annual Report complies with:
• the prescribed requirements of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 and the Financial

and Performance Management Standard 2009
• section 40 of the Family and Child Commission Act 2014, and
• the detailed requirements set out in the Annual report requirements for Queensland

Government agencies.

A checklist confirming compliance with your Department's annual reporting requirements is
included in the appendices of this report.

Yours sincerely

Steve Armitage
Acting Principal Commissioner
Queensland Family and Child Commission
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INTRODUCTION
It is my great pleasure as Acting Principal Commissioner to
present to you the Queensland Family and Child Commission's
(QFCC) inaugural Annual Report.

Queensland has had a children's commission since 1996. The shape
and form of the various commissions' functions have been moulded
over time to reflect the changing focus of governments as they
respond to evidence and insights from formal inquiries, service system
monitoring, ongoing engagement with communities and families and
importantly, the views of children and young people.

The most recent changes, stemming from the 2013 Queensland Child Protection
Commission of Inquiry (QCPCOI), have effectively created an entirely new Commission.

The QFCC commenced operation on 1 July 2014 with a broad objective, and functions
requiring my staff and Ito work in collaboration with the child protection and family support
services sector, including providing leadership and evidence informed advice about system
level performance and the impacts and benefits of laws, polices and service delivery models
on families and children. We are also required to apply significant efforts to educate
Queensland families and communities about their role in keeping children and young people
safe and well.

Despite being a new agency, the QFCC continues to embody the importance placed upon
child rights and wellbeing in Queensland that has remained uninterrupted since 1996. Our
main objective is that Queensland children and young people are safe and well, supported
by capable families and communities.

A key theme for the hardworking and dedicated staff of the QFCC in 2014−15 has been
change. Establishing a new and small agency has necessitated a lean and agile approach to
running the day−to−day business of the QFCC. Additionally, while some staff have been
recruited during the year, existing staff of the predecessor Commission have largely been
called upon to develop and expand their skills and areas of speciality to respond to new
functions and approaches.

Given that context, I am very proud of our efforts to date, which have included:
developing and implementing a Strategic Plan 2014−18 to create an initial focus of
the expected work effort stemming from the QFCC's new Act (the Family and
Child Commission Act 2014) and the QCPCOI's final report − Taking
Responsibility: A Roadmap for Queensland Child Protection (the QCPCOI Report)

delivering the initial phase of the Talking Families social marketing campaign, to
both raise community awareness, and encourage positive shifts in attitude and
behaviour around the role of families and communities in providing the best care
and protection for children

− developing and gaining agreement for an evaluation framework and, in
consultation with the responsible agencies, working towards mapping the planned
evaluation they will undertake over the first five years of the QCPCOI reforms

− partnering with key stakeholders in the design of a customer−focused Community
Services Directory, to help create public awareness of, and enhanced access to,
family support services
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publishing the Annual Report: Deaths of Queensland Children 2013−14, which
identified that in the reporting period the research, public education and policy
development work of 50 stakeholders had been supported by detailed child death
data, and

partnering with Griffith University, the Department of Communities, Child Safety
and Disability Services (DCCSDS) and the Department of Education and Training
to trial in 2016 a computer application called Creature Quest, which assesses
child social and emotional wellbeing, for its potential as an outcome measure for
assessing the effectiveness of family support services.

In the year ahead we will:

− welcome the appointment of our first Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander
Commissioner and commence implementation of our Reconciliation Action Plan

− hold our inaugural Advisory Council meeting under Part 4 of the Family and Child
Commission Act 2014 as a formal means for the Principal Commissioner and
Commissioner to seek advice from partners on matters relating to the QFCC's
functions

− deliver further phases of the Talking Families social marketing campaign, which
will focus on addressing stigma and barriers parents experience in asking for and
accessing support services, and supporting professionals working in the child and
family support system

− finalise development of and deploy the Community Services Directory (in
partnership with the DCCSDS)

− implement a three year rolling research strategy to contribute to the understanding
and practice of child protection

− develop key resources and information for children and families to assist their
understanding of the child protection system and their rights, and

− progress the development of strategies designed to build the capacity and
workforce capability of the sector.

I am very grateful for the support and encouragement of the QFCC's stakeholders in this
important transition year and offer my sincere thanks. I am also very appreciative of the
dedication and application of my staff during this first year of QFCC operations. We are
uniquely placed to fulfil an exciting new role in Queensland's child protection and family
support systems and I look forward to sharing the journey with you.

Steve Armitage
Acting Principal Commissioner
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PART A QFCC ROLE, STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES AND THE
QUEENSLAND CONTEXT

1. Role and functions
The Family and Child Commission Act 2014 started on 1 July 2014. In response to the
QCPCOI Report recommendations a number of functions of the former Commission for
Children and Young People and Child Guardian were transferred to other government
agencies to administer, while a number of new functions were identified, based on the
QCPCOI Report findings.

The general themes identifiable for QFCC from the changes made to the legislation are as
follows:

The individual advocacy, investigation and oversight functions of the former
Commission moving back into line agencies, with oversight by the Office of the
Public Guardian and Queensland Ombudsman. A new approach by the QFCC to
system level oversight, evaluation and advocacy in relation to the child protection
system (but noting that the Family and Child Commission Act 2014 now defines
'child protection system' to include preventative and family support services).

A new focus on the interests of Aboriginal people and Torres Strait Islanders
through:

• the appointment of at least one Commissioner who is either an Aboriginal
person or a Torres Strait Islander person

• a requirement to monitor and report annually on Queensland's progress in
reducing the number of, and improving outcomes for, Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander children and young people in the child protection system, and

• a requirement to respect and promote the role of Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander service providers in supporting families and communities to protect
and care for their children and young people.

Specification of the QFCC's broad promotion, educative and advocacy roles to
highlight:

• the responsibility of families and communities in protecting and caring for
children and young people, and

• the safety and wellbeing of children and young people in need of protection
or in the youth justice system.

New partnership responsibilities relating to:

• building agency capacity to evaluate the efficacy of programs and service
models

• collaborative development and review of strategies supporting the child
protection workforce and non−government service capacity

• strategic child protection research opportunities, and

• improving the delivery of child protection services, from the perspective of
the children, young people and families who receive those services.

−5−



The QFCC has a largely unchanged role in relation to maintenance of the Queensland Child
Death Register. The QFCC will still classify and record the deaths according to cause and
other relevant factors to identify themes, patterns and modifiable risk factors. The QFCC will
continue to make recommendations based on its data analysis and research and seek
opportunities to support and partner with persons undertaking research into ways to reduce
the likelihood of child deaths.

2. Strategic Plan

During the year the QFCC developed its inaugural Strategic Plan 2014−18. Given the context
of the creation of the QFCC, it was necessary for the Strategic Plan to deliver on core
legislative commitments, but with an appropriate emphasis on implementation of relevant
QCPCOI Report recommendations. The 2014−18 objectives, strategies, performance
indicators and risks are outlined in Table 1 below.

Table 1. QFCC objectives and strategies for 2014−18

1. Support a high
quality,evidence−based

Queensland
child protection
and family
support system.

2. Strengthen
partnerships and
collaboration
between
government and
non−government
organisations to
achieve better
outcomes for
children and
families.

1.1 Monitor, review and report on
the performance of the child
protection and family support
systems in line with national
standards.

1.2 Influence and guide the sector
on practice improvement
through investment inbest−practice

research and access to
child death data.

1.3 Support the sector to develop
consistent evaluation
frameworks to measure the
effectiveness of reforms.

2.1 Build the capability of the child
protection and family support
system workforce in
collaboration with government,
non−government and academic
sectors.

2.2 Partner with non−government
organisations to strengthen
non−government organisations
capacity and governance.

2.3 Co−lead the development of
sector−wide cultural change
management with the Child
Protection Reform Leaders
Group.

Advice on the
performance of the
child protection
system and impacts
of the reform
agenda is used to
inform
improvements to
the system.

Increased capacity
and capability of
child protection
and family support
services.

Advice and/or
findings are not
translated into
practice.

Child protection
and family support
services will not
have the capacity
to deliver
sustainable
outcomes for
Queensland
children and
families.
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3. Educate
Queensland
families and
communities on
their role in
keeping children
and young people
safe in the home
and inform them
about the
resources
available to assist
them.

4. Building our
capability.

3.1 Promote public education to Queensland
encourage help−seeking families and
behaviours among at−risk communities:
families and a shared • are aware of their
responsibility for protecting role in protecting
children and young people. and caring for

3.2 Enhance understanding of the children and
child protection and family young people.
support systems in Queensland. access the

3.3 Improve access to and information and
awareness of services that resources to
meet the needs of vulnerable better
Queensland children and understand the
families, child protection

and family
support systems.

• access the
services and
support they
require.

4.1 Strengthen organisational
capability.

4.2 Optimise internal processes
and tools.

• Principal
Commissioner's
satisfaction with
workforce,
Information
Technology and
governance
advice.

• Workforce,
Information
Technology and
governance
frameworks meet
legislative
objectives and
corporate
requirements.

• Queensland
families do not
seek and accept
help when
needed.

• Families and
communities do
not have
confidence in the
available
services.

• Queensland
children, young
people and
families are not
willing or able to
access available
information and
services.

• The QFCC has
insufficient
organisational
capacity and
capability to
deliver on its
strategic
objectives.

Out of respect for, and in recognition of, the culture of Aboriginal people and Torres Strait
Islanders, and the critical role Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander service providers play in
supporting their families and communities, during the year the QFCC placed a priority upon
development of a Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP). The RAP outlines practical actions the
QFCC will take to build strong relationships with and enhance respect for Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander peoples.
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Implementation of the QFCC's RAP will be ongoing in the years ahead. The QFCC is
committed to its responsibility for ensuring the interests of Aboriginal people and Torres
Strait Islanders are appropriately represented. Building trusting relationships with service
providers and generating results over the long term for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
children and families will be critical to our success. In these early stages of our existence, we
hope that these initial steps will help set us on the right path to becoming a credible partner
agency.

3. Alignment with government objectives
Although the QFCC is a statutory body, a critical element to its success will be its capacity to
link with, interpret, analyse and influence its strategic environment, which includes both the
government and non−government elements of the community services sector, research and
innovation hubs, communities and community based organisations, and those children,
young people and families who require help or support.

The Queensland Government's objectives for the community
The Queensland Government has identified four specific objectives for the community (see
Figure 1 over the page). The QFCC will contribute to "Delivering quality frontline services"
through its responsibility for oversighting, evaluating and building the capacity of the child
protection system. It will also contribute to "Building safe, caring and connected
communities" through promoting help−seeking behaviours among at−risk families and
educating the community on the responsibility it shares for protecting children and young
people.
It is important to understand the QFCC's oversight role is dissimilar to the previous
Commission for Children and Young People and Child Guardian (CCYPCG) systemic
monitoring role as the QCPCOI Report indicated that line agencies had sufficiently mature
internal controls and 'excessive oversight can be counter−productive because it can create
inefficiencies by diverting resources unduly from services towards compliance' (page 404).
The QFCC is currently undertaking work with the assistance of its external stakeholders to
determine what oversight work will provide the most value to the family support and child
protection sector.
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Fi:ure 1. Queensland Go rnment's objectives for the community

Social and human services investment blueprint

Major change is underway across Queensland's social services system to reform, rebuild
and reprioritise the way services are planned, funded and delivered. The DCCSDS plans for
investment across its portfolio are detailed in the

Six priority areas have been identified to achieve the desired change:
1. more innovative solutions
2. focus on customer services and results
3. smarter investment
4. simpler processes
5. stronger partnerships, and
6. dynamic workforce,

The QFCC is currently progressing work related to the development of partnerships,
capacity and workforce capability across the child protection and family support service
sector, and will look for synergies and linkages in the work being undertaken to progress the
social and human services investment blueprint.
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Stronger Families (implementation of the Queensland Child Protection
Commission of Inquiry reforms)

The QCPCOI continues to provide a significant influence over the QFCC's priorities. The
QCPCOI Report narrative remains the most contemporary description available of the child
protection and family support systems strengths and weaknesses. The Government's
acceptance of the QCPCOI Report's recommendations for implementation under the
Stronger Families' banner is the focus of QFCC's work.

The QFCC plays an active role within the Stronger Families governance framework −
specifically, the Acting Principal Commissioner is a member of the Reform Leaders Group
and chairs the Workforce/Cultural Change Committee. The specific QCPCOI Report
recommendations that the QFCC is accountable for implementing are set out in Table 2
below.

Table 2. QFCC accountabilities for QCPCOI recommendations

Details of the QCPCOI recommendation

Deliver a public communication strategy, using a social
marketing approach, to raise community awareness, and
encourage positive shifts in attitude and behaviour around the
role of families and communities vs the state in providing the
best care and protection for children.

Develop key resources and information for children and families
to assist their understanding of the child protection system and
their rights within that system.

Develop a Community Services Directory which will enable
families and children to easily access services in their local area
and will provide those government agencies andnon−government

service providers with an overview of services for
referral and planning purposes.

Co−lead the development of sector−wide cultural change
management with the child protection Reform Leaders Group.

Lead the development of a cross sector Workforce Planning and
Development Strategy in collaboration with government and
non−government partners, which will include a range of
workforce initiatives including qualifications standards,
academic, training and professional development projects
across various levels of the sector.
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Details of the QCPCOI recommendation

Lead the development of a Capacity Building and Governance
Strategy for non−government agencies, especially those with
limited resources.

Develop a research program, in consultation with experts, wftch
will contribute to knowiedge and practice in child protection.

Develop a framework to provide an overall architecture for the
evaluation of services and outcomes for vulnerable families and
children.
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PART B NON−FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

4. Strategic Objective I − Support a high quality,evidence−based
Queensland child protection and family support system

In pursuing this objective, our key strategies are to:
oversight, review and report on the performance of the child protection and family
support systems in line with national standards

influence and guide the sector on practice improvement through investment inbest−practice
research and access to child death data

support the sector to develop consistent evaluation frameworks to measure the
effectiveness of reforms.

Key Initiatives for 2014−15

Oversighting and evaluating the child protection system
The QFCC has functions requiring it to provide systemic oversight of the child protection
system and to facilitate improved policies and practices through the conduct of evaluations
and building the capacity of service providers to evaluate the efficacy of their own work. The
Family and Child Commission Act 2014 also specifically requires the QFCC to include in its
Annual Report information on:

Queensland's performance in relation to achieving state and national goals in
relation to the child protection system, including Queensland's performance over
time in comparison with other jurisdictions, and

Queensland's progress in reducing the number of, and improving the outcomes for,
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Island children and young people in the child protection
system.

Detailed data and information is contained in Chapter 7 of this Report in relation to
Queensland's performance in achieving state and national goals.

During 2014−15 work progressed on a number of key tasks in relation to the QFCC's
oversight and evaluation responsibilities, including:

− developing an evaluation framework providing a high level strategy and principles
for evaluation across the program of reforms

− in consultation with the responsible agencies, working towards mapping the
planned evaluation that agencies will undertake over the first five years in relation to
the Stronger Families reforms

− assisting the Stronger Families Enterprise Program Management Office in
conducting workshops to confirm work package and domain program logics and
identify key evaluation points

− establishing an Evaluation Community of Practice and providing high−level guidance
for agencies responsible for evaluating the implementation of the Stronger Families
reforms, including tutorials on evaluation methodology and templates to help
achieve consistency across government in the evaluation of Stronger Families
reforms, and
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reporting on the performance of the Queensland child protection system in line with
the National Framework for Protecting Australia's Children 2009−2020 − to inform
this process, besides accessing existing available data and information, the QFCC
is working to influence the development of outcome measures on some important
areas of functioning of the child protection and family support systems for which,
currently, there are no measures.

These are significant undertakings by the QFCC. They will be important in understanding the
extent to which the Stronger Families reforms have been effective, with their major benefit
being more evident over the long term but reliant on the governance mechanism responsible
for the service systems (presently the Stronger Families Reform Leaders Group) to act on
evaluation and oversight findings in key areas.

Three year rolling research program
The QFCC has responsibility to build the evidence base for child protection practices by
leading and facilitating, along with research institutions, practitioners and other stakeholders,
a rolling three−year research schedule.
Work commenced on the development of a schedule of proposed research topics during the
year, with a series of consultations with stakeholders, including practitioners across both the
government and non−government sector, as well as research institutions. These
consultations sought to establish the views from across the system, as to what are the gaps
in current knowledge in relation to improving practice in child protection, and what are
believed to be priority areas for research that would have practical application for the
Queensland system in particular, and potentially improve outcomes for vulnerable children
and young people.
The outcomes of these consultations are currently being collated and thematically grouped
into key areas of inquiry, with associated research questions. The identified research gaps
will then form the basis of a broad research agenda across the system. From this, a number
of distinct projects of significant priority will be identified and developed in partnership with
stakeholders, and a rolling three−year research program will be established, with some
projects commencing from early 2016.
In particular, a priority research project − the Creature Quest trial − has been initiated to
explore the practical application in different settings of a measure of social and emotional
wellbeing for primary aged children, for potential use as a pre− and post−service delivery
outcome measure.

QFCC brokered agreement for Creature Quest trial in Logan
Creature Quest is an interactive game for tablets and computers that provides a valid,
robust, and reliable measure of wellbeing for children in prevention programs, schools and
communities. It was developed by Professor Ross Homel and Dr Kate Freiberg from Griffith
University.
The QFCC has brokered an agreement between QFCC, DCCSDS, Department of Education
and Training and Griffith University to conduct a trial in the Logan area in 2016. This will
involve trialling the use of Creature Quest and associated material for its potential as an
instrument for assessing the effectiveness of family support services provided by
participating non−government organisations.
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The QFCC provided research support to the project from February 2015 and June 2015 to
assist with the development of the support tools and guidance documents that will
accompany Creature Quest. The QFCC also provided funding to assist with technical
upgrades to the game to make it more sophisticated, so that children can create an avatar
identity through which to play the game, and to increase its compatibility with a range of
platforms.
Preliminary meetings have occurred with Department of Education and Training and
DCCSDS to explore ways to pilot the tools and progress their use in assessing the outcomes
of family support services.

Policy submissions
The QFCC has functions that require it to provide advice to relevant agencies about laws,
policies, practices and services, with a view to upholding child rights and improving the
delivery of services to children, young people and families. During the year the QFCC
provided advice within policy contexts relating to a number of issues, as outlined below.
The QFCC provided a submission to the Australian Senate, Standing Committee on
Community Affairs, References Committee: Inquiry into the adequacy of existing residential
care arrangements available for young people with severe physical, mental or intellectual
disabilities in Australia. The submission recommended long−term advocacy to secure
appropriate services, support and accommodation options for young people with severe
disabilities.
The QFCC was invited by the Family Law Council to provide a submission on Families with
Complex Needs and the Intersection of the Family Law and Child Protection Systems. The
information contained in the QFCC response, and the responses of other organisations and
individuals were compiled and provided to the Attorney−General, Senator the Hon. George
Brandis QC. The QFCC submission recommended that the Family Law Council provide
advice to Attorney−General Brandis which:

− seeks to ensure the best interests of children are routinely sought and applied as a
determining factor in all decision making processes

− seeks to ensure legal representatives are sympathetic to and demonstrate
understanding of the emotional impacts of family and child protection matters on
children and young people

− considers the implications of implementing legislative and judicial amendment to the
current model of Family Law Court and Children's Court roles

− promotes and advocates for adequately funded legal representation resources for
families and children within the legal system, and

− ensures vulnerable families are provided with access to appropriate secondary
services to address pre−existing risk factors identified in, or prior to, progressing a
family law matter.

The QFCC provided a submission response to the Parliament of Australia, Finance and
Public Administration References Committee regarding the Inquiry, Access to legal
assistance services − Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander experience of law enforcement
and justice services. The submission recommended:

the continuation of Commonwealth Government funding for legal assistance
services for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander families, children and young
people
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− the References Committee note the findings and recommendations of the QCPCOI
Report and consider their potential relevance to the terms of reference of its own
inquiry, and

− the References Committee consider the potential for supplementary funding for
legal representation in child protection matters.

Annual Report on Child Deaths in Queensland

During the year the QFCC published the Annual Report: Deaths of Queensland Children
2013−14; the 10th Annual Report to be produced on child deaths in Queensland.

The table below shows the number and rate of child deaths in Queensland each reporting
period since 2004−05. Over the ten year period of data collection by the QFCC and the
predecessor Commission there have been some year to year fluctuations in child death
rates, however, there has been a general reduction in the rates in the most recent years in
comparison to first half of the decade.

Table 3. Number and rate of child deaths by reporting period, 20042014

481

425

509

487

520

488
465
487
448
446

Data source: Queensland Child Death Register (2004−2014)

49.6
43.0

51.6

48.3

50.5

46.5
43.8

45.4
41.1

41.0

For the 446 children and young people whose deaths were registered in 2013−14, the
following observations were made (these findings are generally similar to those found in
previous reporting periods):

− 55.4% of the deaths were male and 44.4% were female

− diseases and morbid conditions accounted for the majority of deaths (76.9%)

− 16.4% of deaths were due to external causes − transport, drowning, suicide, fatal
assault and neglect, or other non−intentional injury

− 66.8% of deaths were of infants under 1 year of age
− Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children accounted for 15.5% of deaths and

died at around twice the rate of non−Indigenous children in Queensland, and

− children known to the child protection system died at a rate of 47.8 deaths per
100,000, compared with 41.0 deaths per 100,000 for all Queensland children.
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Supporting child death prevention efforts
The QFCC has maintained the strategy established by its predecessor Commission of
providing access to data in the Queensland Child Death Register to support the
development and implementation of child death prevention programs, policies and initiatives
that require a solid and contemporary evidence base.

During the year we published the Annual Report: Deaths of Queensland Children 2013−14,
which identified that 50 requests for access to the Child Death Register from external
stakeholders were received, including the Queensland Injury Surveillance Unit, Department
of Housing and Public Works, Royal Life Saving Society − Australia, Kidsafe OLD, the
University of the Sunshine Coast Accident Research, Australian Institute of Suicide
Research and Prevention, Office of the State Coroner, the Queensland Mental Health
Commission, University of Queensland Centre for Clinical Research, the Australian
Competition and Consumer Commission and the Centre for Accident Research and Road
Safety Queensland (OUT).

Table 4. Purpose of data request by type of data requested, 2013−14

Research Public Policy/
education/ program
report ing development

I

2

1

0

1

0

0

0

5

Data source: Queensland Family and Child Commission (2013−14)

Total

15

11

8

5

3

3

3

2

50

In the year ahead the QFCC will be considering new ways to promote and increase
awareness of child death and injury prevention issues to help ensure the safety of
Queensland children. Access to comprehensive child death data is available at no cost to
organisations or individuals conducting genuine research. Stakeholders wishing to access
the Queensland Child Death Register to support their research, policy or program initiatives
should email their request to
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5. Strategic Objective 2 − Strengthen partnerships and collaboration
between government and non−government organisations to
achieve better outcomes for children and families

In pursuing this objective, our key strategies are to:
build the capability of the child protection and family support system workforce in
collaboration with government, non−government and academic sectors
partner with non−government organisations to strengthen non−government
organisations capacity and governance, and
lead the development of sector−wide cultural change management.

Key Initiatives for 2014−15

Partnering to achieve better outcomes
The QCPCOI Report offered detailed insights into what it considered to be the measures
necessary to achieve better and more sustainable child protection and family support
systems. It also provided direction on the way in which this should be achieved. In this
regard, the QCPCOI Report placed a great deal of emphasis upon the concept of'co−design'.

Adopting a co−design approach to Stronger Families initiatives has been important within
government, where inter−agency co−operation can sometimes be lacking, but it has been
critical in building stronger relationships with our customers and a joint commitment on
approach with non−government peak bodies and their member organisations.
The QFCC does not view co−design purely as a process. From our perspective, particularly
with our commitment to developing genuine partnerships, we consider it essential thatco−design

be viewed in the subjective. We acknowledge there is no one−size−fits−all when it
comes to genuine engagement, particularly where vulnerable children, young people and
their families are involved, and we are prepared to have our contribution to the Stronger
Families reforms assessed by the way our stakeholders feel about their engagement with us.
Ideally they will consider the opportunities we offer for their involvement meet their particular
needs, that their contribution is treated genuinely and respectfully and that key decisions are
not prejudged. Overall, we want our stakeholders to feel that the way in which we manage
our relationships provides the best opportunity for genuine outcomes.
The QFCC created and responded to a number of opportunities to build linkages with
stakeholders and involve them in our work this year. Highlights of this work are outlined
below.

The Acting Principal Commissioner participating as a member of the Stronger
Families Reform Leaders Group.
The Acting Principal Commissioner commencing as chair of the Stronger Families
Workforce/Cultural Change Committee, which is one of four sub−committees of the
Stronger Families Reform Leaders Group.
Establishing an Evaluation Community of Practice to assist agencies build their
capacity to evaluate the efficacy of their programs and service models.
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Hosting two workshops with 50 delegates from 37 different government andnon−government
agencies to inform the design concept of the Community Services

Directory and establishing a Yammer account to provide an ongoing forum for
updates and discussion.
Conducting a collaborative forum attended by 49 participants representing 30
government and non−government organisations to inform the development of
resources and information for the child protection sector.
Engaging in a partnership with CREATE Foundation to host the Staying Connected
forum. CREATE young consultants facilitated the group of 70 participants with a
view to informing service delivery professionals about the experiences of young
people in out−of−home−care.
The Acting Principal Commissioner attending the Australian Children's
Commissioners and Guardians (ACCG) meetings. The ACCG group is comprised
of all Australian State and Territory Commissioners and Guardians and the National
Children's Commissioner, who advocate for the safety, wellbeing and rights of
children and young people. The meetings are held twice annually and allow ACCG
members to discuss a range of priority issues which affect children and young
people, particularly those who are most vulnerable. The Acting Principal
Commissioner presented a paper on transitioning from care (an ACCG priority
area), highlighting the work of CREATE and how the QCPCOI Report canre−energise

the focus on transitioning from care.
Partnering with Griffith University, the DCCSDS and the Department of Education
and Training to undertake a trial in 2016 of an interactive computer game, Creature
Quest, which assesses child social and emotional wellbeing for its potential as an
outcome measure of the effectiveness of family support services.
Hosting a Partners in Reform − Evaluation Leaders Forum, on 15 June 2015 to
inform and guide the implementation and evaluation of the Stronger Families
reforms in Queensland through providing critical insights from renowned
researchers in child protection. Presentations were provided from Professor Ilan
Katz on Learning from the NSW evaluation of 'Keep Them Safe', Adjunct Professor
Rebecca Cassells on the Economic evaluation of the NSW 'Keep Them Safe'
initiative: a geographic approach, Professor Clare Tilbury, Repositioning prevention
using performance indicators, and Dr Kate Freiberg on Measuring wellbeing and
functioning or children and parents.

In the year ahead the QFCC will host the inaugural meeting of its Advisory Council.
Establishing the Advisory Council, as recommended by the QCPCOI Report, will provide a
formal avenue of guidance and advice for the Principal Commissioner and Commissioner on
the role and services of the QFCC into the future.

In the year ahead the QFCC will also implement both an overarching Engagement Strategy
and a targeted Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Engagement Strategy. These strategies
will be important in helping define our commitment to, and desired relationship with key
groups.

Cross−sector Workforce Planning and Development Strategy
The QFCC is well advanced in the initial phase of collaborating with stakeholders on the
development of the Cross−sector Workforce Planning and Development Strategy. Significant
effort was applied during the year to working with stakeholders to more sharply define the
needs and areas for potential action.
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In all, 43 individual and group stakeholder sessions were conducted during the year to define
the key areas for action and discuss possible strategies. Based on this early work, it is
anticipated that the Cross−sector Workforce Planning and Development Strategy will include
a range of workforce qualification standards, training and professional development
initiatives that can be applied across all levels of the sector. There will also be some specific
place−based initiatives, tailored to local workforce and client needs where more targeted
solutions are required. It is intended that, over the medium to long term, the strategy will
support the sector in meeting the service demands placed upon it.
The table below highlights the scope of this important work.

Table 5: Phases of the Cross−sector Workforce Planning and Development Strategy

Job Family Framework − Profile the sectors work by grouping roles that require
similar qualifications, skills, or knowledge.

Workforce Profile − Analyse characteristics to identify current and future workforce
and capability requirements.

Shared Practice Framework − Understand the intersection of new practice
frameworks and build consistent practice language and methodologies across the
sector.

Joint Training − Training and development opportunities that encourage
collaboration between service providers.

Workplace Learning −Work
'
place learning initiatives to reduce professional

isolation and fatigue, improveknowledge retention and transfer, and widen the skill
base.

Career Pathways − Options for career pathways to recognise transferability,
highlight the agility of the workforce and help promote career progression
opportunities.

Mandatory Qualifications − Mandatory minimum qu2difications to enhance the
capability of the workforce and improve the consistency and quality of client
exriences.

Training Framework − Options to identify core training requirements and skill sets
across job families.

Flexible Pathways − Identify transitional oopodunities between job families across
the sector, and enable flexible altematves to ganng skus and qualifications.

Tertiary Qualifications − Understand the applicability, demand for and feasibility of
child protection specific tertiary qualifications.
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Use findings from Phase 1 to inform the development of the Strategy.

Work with the sector to identify agreed priorities to transition the existing workforce to meet
future needs.

Consider any emerging issues which may influence the direction of the Strategy.

Identify potential pilot locations or cohorts (e.g. Aboriginal and Tories Strait Islander
workforce).

Work with the sector to finalise and agree on the Strategy.

Obtain endorsement from key stakeholders and sector leadership for the Strategy

Cross sector Workforce Planning and Development Strategy
• Communication
• Implementation
• Performance measurement, monitoring and evaluation

Collaborate with sector champions to build interest and trust, and empower sector leaders to
implement initiatives

Manage regular workforce profile analysis to inform future planning.

Capacity Building and Governance Strategy
The QFCC has responsibility for leading the development of a Capacity Building and
Governance Strategy for non−government agencies, especially those with limited resources.
QFCC has conducted initial scanning and targeted stakeholder engagement to build
understanding about the wider context within which non−government organisations are
working, to identify key [earnings from the implementation of capacity−building strategies in
other jurisdictions, and to develop internal knowledge and capability.
Initial findings confirmed the extent to which (state and federal) reform has impacted the
child protection and family support services sector, but also highlighted efforts underway
within government and the sector to build consensus around the desired outcomes from
reforms and how the sector might respond. QFCC also noted the increasing focus on the
need for longer term industry development to enable the sector to plan for, and respond to,
new reform agendas.
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The QFCC is in the process of obtaining agreement from relevant agencies and
organisations that the following specific deliverables are required for the 2015−16 period:

− a sector steering group to provide advice and an authorising environment for the
facilitation of the pilot processes be established (including roles, scope, potential
partnerships and principles for effective capacity building)

− engagement with Regional Child and Family Committees and Local Level Alliances
will be critical in developing the planned approach

− facilitate a sector−government stakeholder forum to design the detail of a pilot
process − one for all non−government organisations involved in the reforms, and one
for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander non−government organisations

− monitor and provide quality assurance advice to the pilot regions and the sector
steering group about how well the pilot processes are aligning with principles of
effective capacity building, and

− facilitate a process for assessing the pilot process and report key findings and
recommendations to the sector steering group and child protection reform
governance forums.

Strengthening the culture surrounding the delivery of child protection services
Developing a more positive culture surrounding the delivery of child protection services was
identified by the QCPCOI Report as a critical enabler to long term success. Responsibility for
this recommendation was jointly allocated to the Stronger Families Reform Leaders Group
and the QFCC.

To date the QFCC has worked with stakeholders in 30 collaborative forums as an initial
phase of identifying the nature, strengths, weakness and gaps in the existing workforce
culture, and stakeholder needs, roles and responsibilities.
This work has resulted in agreement that the following encompass the desired future culture
of the sector:

− a proactive, positive and supportive culture that advocates taking responsibility

− a culture that includes appropriate risk taking

− a vibrant and inclusive learning culture in which there is support for child protection
workers in using their professional judgement, recognition of good practice,
opportunities for innovation, mentoring to strive for best practice

− a culture that learns from successes as well as failure

− a respectful relationship between government officers, non−government
organisation staff, carers, parents, family, children and young people

− a more open and responsive approach that recognises shared government and
non−government goal responsibility, emphasises areas of agreement and acts
responsively to work through barriers

− a shared vision that promotes a culture of pride in excellence, and determination to
improve practice and see better outcomes for children at all stages of the system,
and

− a culture that develops the capacity of parents and families to take responsibility for
protecting and caring for their children.

This work is in its early stages and a consistent and sustained effort will be required from all
in coming years to develop and implement the most positive culture in the sector.
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6. Strategic Objective 3 − Educate Queensland families and
communities on their role in keeping children and
young people safe in the home and inform them about the
resources available to assist them

In pursuing this objective, our key strategies are to:

− encourage help−seeking behaviours among at−risk families and a shared
responsibility for protecting children and young people

− generally enhance understanding of the child protection and family support systems
in Queensland, and

− improve access to and awareness of services that meet the needs of Queensland
families.

Key Initiatives for 2014−15

Public communication strategy ('Talking Families')
The Talking Families campaign, which uses a social marketing approach, was launched on 2
November 2014 to both raise community awareness, and encourage positive shifts in
attitude and behaviour around the role of families and communities, as compared with the
state, in providing the best care and protection for children.

Figure 2: Example from Talking Families campaign

On 2 November 2014, the QFCC launched a six−week state−wide mass−media advertising
campaign, encouraging parents and community to adopt help seeking, help accepting and
help offering behaviours, and to direct more families to secondary support services.
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Before the campaign went to air, baseline data captured by an independent research
company found that more than half of Queensland parents had struggled to cope with
parenting stress, more than 90 per cent of those struggling were not regularly asking for help
and more than 10 per cent of all Queensland parents said at least weekly they felt difficulties
were piling up so high they felt they could not overcome them.

Evaluation of the first six−week wave of advertising in the Talking Families campaign
revealed good public awareness of the initiative and some indication of positive behavioural
responses.
An independent campaign evaluation found statistically significant behaviour change among
'concerned family and friends', with this group more likely to offer and provide help to
stressed parents after seeing the campaign.
Following the first wave of advertising, no behaviour change was observed in the 'parent'
group, with subsequent waves of Talking Families seeking to address the barriers parents
experience in asking for and accepting help.

Table 6: Statistics from Talking Families campaign

Talking Families microsite visits

Facebook page followers

12,415

6,128

18,682

11,905

At the height of the campaign, the Talking Families Facebook page was connecting with
more than 60,000 Queensland parents every day.

The engagement observed on particular parenting topics and Help Nights held on the
Talking Families Facebook page are giving the QFCC qualitative insights to use as part of
future phases of Talking Families.

Figure 3: Example from Talking Families campaign

Thlkng Fni1as
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Research for future phases of the public communication strategy will commence early in
2015−16 and may include a focus on reducing the stigma parents experience in asking for
and accessing support services and supporting professionals who work in the child
protection and family support system. Over the coming four years, the campaign will be built
upon following evaluation and ongoing collaboration with our stakeholders to inform our
approach.

Figure 4: Infographic about different support options for parents in daily life
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Development of resources to help children, young people and families
understand and access supports
During the year the QFCC commenced work on two strategies to help children, young
people and families better understand how the child protection system works and where they
can go to get help when family functioning issues arise. The QFCC is leading a sector−wide
collaborative approach to develop new resources and update and diversify current resource
material and information for children and families to better assist them in understanding their
rights, how the child protection system works including court and tribunal processes and
complaints and review options.
In November 2014 the QFCC facilitated a roundtable attended by representatives from 30
government and non−government organisations to commence sector−wide involvement in
improving resources and information available to support children and families. A
comprehensive stocktake of existing resources has now been compiled. Specific working
parties have been established to focus on the key areas of courts, complaints and child
protection system as a whole. Each working party will be engaged in identifying resource
gaps, developing plans for new and updated resources and supporting innovation and
creativity across the sector. It is envisaged that sector−wide resources will be made available
on a shared portal maintained by the QFCC.
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During the year the QFCC also undertook an in−depth process to design the user interface
and user experience for a Community Services Directory, which will enable children, young
people and families to have easy access to support services, and provide professionals an
overview of services available for referral and planning purposes. The Community Services
Directory is intended to be the go−to site to enable children, young people and families to find
the secondary support they need in their local community. The QFCC's technical
specifications for the Directory are complete and in 2015−16 the QFCC will partner with the
DCCSDS in the development and implementation phases of the project. The next phase of
the project will involve consideration and selection of a platform upon which the QFCC
solution can be built.

7. Queensland's performance in achieving state and national
child protection goals

One of the QFCC's functions under the Family and Child Commission Act 2014 is to
oversight Queensland's child protection system. It is important to note, however, that the
QFCC's oversight role is intended to be different from the previous CCYPCG systemic
monitoring role. The QCPCOI Report was explicit in identifying that the previous oversight
undertaken by the CCYPCG was no longer appropriate, identifying that DCCSDS now
'...has mature corporate governance and performance management arrangements'1 and
that '...There are also several whole−of−government bodies responsible for monitoring
departmental performance" and that '...excessive oversight can be counter−productive
because it can create inefficiencies by diverting resources unduly from services towards
compliance.'3

The QCPCOI Report also stated that '...it is time for each department to take responsibility
for ensuring that it meets its legislative obligations using sound quality systems, backed up
by independent, generalist oversight bodies including the Ombudsman, the Public Service
Commission and Queensland Audit Office. 14

Given these observations that the QFCC's oversight function is not to be the detailed
oversight function of the past, the QFCC is currently undertaking work with the assistance of
its external stakeholders to determine what systemic oversight work will provide the most
value to the family support and child protection sector. The QFCC is well positioned to use
this as an opportunity to provide a new approach to oversight.
One element of the QFCC oversight role is to analyse national data as a means to assessing
Queensland's performance relating to the child protection system. Section 40 of the Family
and Child Commission Act 2014 specifies that the QFCC is to include in the Annual Report
information on:

(a) Queensland's performance in relation to achieving state and national goals relating to
the child protection system

(b) Queensland's performance overtime in comparison to other jurisdictions, and
(c) Queensland's progress in reducing the number of, and improving the outcomes for,

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children and young people in the child protection
system.

The purpose of this section of the Annual Report is to detail Queensland's performance in
relation to these three areas.

QCPCOI, Taking Responsibility: A Roadmap for Queensland Child Protection Report, 2013, p404.
2 QCPCOI, Taking Responsibility: A Roadmap for Queensland Child Protection Report, 2013, p404.

QCPCOI, Taking Responsibility: A Roadmap for Queensland Child Protection Report, 2013, p404.
QCPCOI, Taking Responsibility: A Roadmap for Queensland Child Protection Report, 2013, p447.

−25−



National goals
National goals relating to the child protection system are captured in the National Framework
for Protecting Australia's Children 2009−2020 (National Framework). The National
Framework is a long term program of change that promotes a unified approach to achieving
the goal 'Australia's Children and Young People are safe and well'.' The National
Framework shifts the focus of 'protecting children' from a statutory response to abuse and
neglect, to a more holistic view where the safety and wellbeing of children is the collective
role and responsibility of families, communities and governments.
Australia's progress on the National Framework is measured through a series of outcomes
and performance indicators to achieve the high−level goal. Six supporting outcomes focus on
complementary areas, such as supports available to children and families, ensuring children
who have been abused or neglected receive the support they need, and that Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander children are safe and supported in their families and communities. A
number of indicators are used to measure progress towards achieving the high−level goal
and each of the supporting outcomes.6

There are eight indicators to measure progress towards the high−level goal that children are
safe and well:

− substantiated child protection cases
− children in out−of−home care
− teenage births
− infants born of low birth weight
− child homicide
− early childhood development
− child social and emotional wellbeing, and
− family economic situation.

It is against the first six of these indicators for which Queensland's performance has been
examined in relation to achieving national goals. Data for the indicators, sourced from a
number of published sources, are brought together to present a picture of the safety and
wellbeing of children in Queensland compared to children nationally. Data for two
indicators—child social and emotional wellbeing and family economic situation—are
currently unavailable for reporting on Queensland's performance and have not been
included in this report!

Given the various data sources involved, it should be noted that there are variations in the
latest data available, reference periods and population figures.

Substantiated child protection cases
Substantiated child protection cases are measured as the rate of children aged 0−17 years
who were the subject of a child protection substantiation. Children who have been abused or
neglected often have poor social, behavioural and health outcomes, both during childhood
and later in life.8

Council of Australian Governments, 2009, National Framework for Protecting Australia's Children, p1 1.
National Framework for Protecting Australia's Children, Second Three YearAction Plan 2012−2015, p39−41.
Child social and emotional wellbeing is to be measured with proportion of children aged 8−17 years scoring of concern' on the

Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire. This indicator is currently pending the implementation of an Australian Bureau of
Statistics data source and is not reportable. Family economic situation is measured as the proportion of households with
children aged 0−14 years where at least 50% of gross household income is from government pensions and allowances, as
captured in the biannual Australian Bureau of Statistics Survey of Income and Housing (SIH). This data is published for
Australia rather than individual states and territories. As a result, an analysis of Queensland performance is currently not
available.
8 Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2011, Headline indicators for children's health, development and wellbeing, 2011.
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Administrative data on substantiations does not capture the prevalence of child abuse and
neglect in the community. However, it does capture the incidence of cases that have been
reported to state and territory departments responsible for child protection, and following an
investigation, found that a child has been, is being, or is likely to be abused, neglect or
otherwise harmed.'

While jurisdictions share similar legal definitions of harm and risk of harm there are subtle
differences in policy and practice across states and territories. The breadth of these
variations are not reflected in the combined national totals, which limits the comparability of
substantiation figures and rates.
Substantiation data published by the Australian Institute for Health and Welfare (AIHW) is
shown in Figure 5 below. In 2013−14, the national rate of substantiated child abuse and
neglect was 7.8 per 1,000 children. Nationally, the rate of substantiated abuse has increased
over the past five years, up from 6.2 in 2009−10. In comparison, the rate of Queensland
children subject to a substantiation was lower than the national total at 6.0 per 1,000
children. After an increase, the rate of children substantiated in Queensland has returned to
2009−10 levels.10

Figure 5: Children who were the subject of substantiation of notification of child
abuse and neglect (rate per 1,000), Queensland and Australia 2009−10 to 2013−14

Source: AIHW Child Protection Australia, data collections 2009−10 to 2013−14
Notes: Population data used by AIHW for this measure was based on 2011 Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) data. A child
may be subject to more than 1 substantiation.

In Queensland, fewer children were the subject of multiple substantiations during the year.
Nationally, 1 in 5 children with substantiated child abuse or neglect were the subject of
multiple substantiations in 2013−14.11 This compares to 1 in 10 Queensland children subject
to multiple substantiations in 201314.12

9 A n n u a l Report to COAG, 2012−13.
o Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, Child Protection Australia 2013−14, Table: A14.

11 Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, Child Protection Australia 2013−14, Table: 3.3.
12 The rate data reflects a total number of 7,406 substantiations of notifications for 6,685 children. Table 3.2 (Child Protection
Australia 2013−14).
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An increase (or decrease) in the rate of substantiation may be a result of external factors,
rather than directly attributable to an increase (or decrease) of harm behaviours towards
children. These external factors may include jurisdictional policy or practice changes or
improvements in community understanding of abuse and how to report suspected harm.13
Nevertheless, these data suggest that rates of substantiated abuse and neglect are lower in
Queensland than in Australia overall. Interestingly, the difference in Queensland and
national rates has grown each year for the past five years.

Children in out−of−home care
While generally seen as a last resort intervention 14, out−of−home care is provided across
Australia as an alternative living arrangement for children unable to live with their parents.
Children in out−of−home care are a particularly vulnerable and disadvantaged group, with
many having experienced child abuse or neglect, while others may have suffered emotional
trauma through the loss of one or both parents. 15

As at 30 June 2014, there were 43,009 children in out−of−home care across Australia,
representing a population rate of 8.1 per 1,000 children (aged 0−17 years). The national rate
of children in out−of−home care has grown steadily over the past five years, up from 7.1 in
2010. In comparison, the Queensland rate is lower than the national rate, at 7.3 per 1,000
children in June 2014. While the rate of children in out−of−home care has also increased over
the past five years, the increase has been much smaller, up from 6.9 in 2010. Overall, these
data suggest that the rate of children in out−of−home care remains consistently lower than
the national rate, albeit slightly.

Figure 6: Children who were in out−of−home care as at 30 June (rate per 1,000),
Queensland and Australia, 2010 to 2014

9

0

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

—.−−Queensland Australia

Source: AIHW, Child Protection Australia 2013−14, Table 5.6
Notes: Australian rates are affected by data caveats applicable to each individual jurisdiction. Rates published by All−lW were
calculated using 2011 ABS Census data. Rates may differ from previous Child Protection Australia reports due to retrospective
data updates.

13 Australian, state and territory governments, Annual Report to the Council of Australian Government 2012−13, Protecting
Children is Everyone's Business, p19.
14 Australian, state and territory governments, Annual Report to the Council of Australian Government 2012−13, Protecting
Children is Everyone's Business, p20.
15 Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2009, A picture of Australia's children.
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Teenage births

Teenage births can have significant short and long−term impacts, for both the mother and
child. Babies born to teenage mothers have an increased risk of pre−term birth and low birth
weight, as well as other complications associated with these risks16 Both the mother and
child are also at greater risk of experiencing, over the longer term, poorer health, education
and socioeconomic outcomes.17

When considered in the context of other factors associated with child safety and wellbeing,
teenage birth rates can be an indicator of future education and career prospects for women.
Young mothers are more likely to drop out of education and work in low−paid jobs withlong−term

consequences on family welfare.18

The number of teenage births is measured as the rate of live births to women aged less than
20 years of age.19 The most recent AIHW data on teenage births is for 2012 and indicates a
national teenage birth rate of 15.5 per 1,000 females. In comparison, the birth rate for
teenage mothers in Queensland in 2012 was 21.3, well above the national rate of 15.5. The
birth rate for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander teenage mothers was four times higher
than non−Indigenous mothers both in Australia overall and in Queensland specifically in
2012.
In both Queensland and nationally, there has been a decline in the rate of teenage births
over the past five years. Specifically, the Queensland rate has reduced from 24.0 in 2008 to
21.3 in 2012, while nationally the rate has decreased from 17.1 in 2008 to 15.5 in 2012.

Figure 7: Age specific birth rate for women aged 15−19 years (births per 1000
females), Queensland and Australia, 2008 to 2012
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Source: AIHW, Children's Headline Indicators, updated June 2015
Notes: Live births to mothers under 15 are included in the numerator. Data based on mother's place of usual residence.
Excludes non−residents and records where state of usual residence was not stated, except in totals for Australia. Victoria
provided provisional data in 2009, 2010 and 2012. The rates of total teenage birth' were recalculated in November 2014 by
AIHW using estimates of Australia's resident population data (based on the ABS 2011 Census). AIHW utilises AIHW National
Perinatal Data for number calculations.

16 Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, Child Health Risk Factors,
accessed 30/07/2015.

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, updated 2015, Children's Headline lndcato
accessed 30/07/2015.
18 Organisation for Economic Co−operation and Development,2014, Fertility Indicators − e of births outside marriage and
teenage births, accessed 30/07/2015
19 Live births to mothers under 15 years of age are included in the numerator, but not denominator.
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Infants born of low birth weight
The proportion of live born infants weighing less than 2,500 grams at birth is a key indicator
of infant health and a significant determining factor of a baby's chance at survival, good
health, and development and wellbeing outcomes. There are many factors that can
contribute to low birth weight including: maternal age, illness in pregnancy, low
socioeconomic status, multi−fetal pregnancy, maternal history of spontaneous abortion,
harmful behaviours (drinking alcohol, smoking, drug taking), poor nutrition through
pregnancy and poor pre−natal care.20

Both nationally and for Queensland specifically, there has been little change in the
proportion of low birth weight babies over time 21 (see Figure 8 below). The proportion of
babies born with a low birth weight in Queensland has remained relatively consistent, with
only minor fluctuations between 6.2 per cent in 2008 and 6.5 per cent in 2012. The national
trend is slightly lower, at around 6.2 per cent each year since 2008.

Figure 8: Live born infants with a low birth weight of less than 2,500 grams (per cent
of all live births), Queensland and Australia, 2008 to 2012

Source: AIHW, Children's Headline Indicators, updated June 2015
Notes: Includes live born babies of at least 400 grams birth weight or at least 20 weeks gestation (excludes stillborn babies).
Victorian provided provisional data in 2009, 2010 and 2012. This would be reflected in the Australian rate calculation. All−lW
utilises AIHW National Perinatal Data for number calculations.

Child homicide
Child homicide is measured with the rate of children aged 0−17 years subject to homicide or
death from fatal outcomes of intentionally inflicted wounds.22 While child assault and
homicide is a rare event, these data are a key indicator of the nature and level of extreme
and serious interpersonal violence experienced by an extremely vulnerable cohort.

During the two financial years 2010−11 to 2011−12, there were 62 deaths nationally due to
homicide among children aged 0−17, representing a population rate of 0.6 per 100,000
children. This is consistent with the rate for Queensland over the same period.

The distribution of the rate of death due to homicide across age groups within Queensland
during the two year period was however quite different in comparison to national rates,
where Queensland reported a higher rate of child homicide among children younger than

20 National Framework for Protecting Australia's Children, 2013, Technical paper on operational definitions and data issues for
key national indicators, p9.
21 AIHW, Children's Headline Indicators, Low birth weight, updated June, 2015
22 National Framework for Protecting Australia's Children, Technical paper on operational definitions and data issues for key
national indicators, p1 1.
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one year, yet reported no homicide−related deaths for the older category of 15−17 year olds
(see below Figure 9).

Overall, the rate of homicide deaths of children in Queensland during the two year period
2008−09 to 2009−10 was stable at 0.6 per 100,000 children, whilst the rate of death for those
under one year old was lower (2.4 deaths per 100,000 children). It should be noted however
that due to the extremely low numbers of deaths due to homicide in children, much caution
should be made in the interpretation of these rates.

Figure 9: Deaths due to homicide among children aged 017 years (rate per 100,000),
Queensland and Australia, 201011 and 2011−12
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Source: Australian Institute of Criminology National Homicide Monitoring Program, Homicide in Australia 2010−2011 to2011−2012;
Queensland Family and Child Commission, Queensland Child Death Register (unpublished, current as at 3 August 2015

and thus may differ from previously published reports.)

Early childhood development
Early childhood development can impact a child throughout life, including their future life
successes, physical health and emotional wellbeing.23 There are multiple factors that impact
childhood development including, for example, families, communities, broader social norms
as well as government policies and practices.24

The Australian Early Development Census (AEDC) is completed by teachers in a child's first
full−time schooling year (prep through to before commencing grade one) and occurs every
three years. The AEDC measures five domains of early childhood development:

− physical health and wellbeing
− social competence
− emotional maturity
− language and cognitive skills
− communication skills, and
− general knowledge.

23 Commonwealth of Australia, Australian Early Development Index, 2014−2015, Importance of early childhood development,
accessed 31/07/2015.

1 1 Commonwealth of Australia, Australian Early Development Index,201 4−2015, What influences child development,
accessed 31/07/2015
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The AEDC results are then reported as average scores and proportions of children who are
determined as 'developmentally vulnerable', 'developmentally at−risk', or 'on track'.25 The
National Framework indicator is the proportion of children who are developmentally
vulnerable on one or more domains of the AEDC.

The AEDC was most recently completed in 2009 and 2012. In both years, a higher
proportion of Queensland children were identified as developmentally vulnerable on one or
more domains than the national total. In 2012, 26.2 per cent of Queensland children were
developmentally vulnerable, compared to 22.0 per cent of children nationally (see below
Figure 10). Similarly, in Queensland, 13.8 per cent of children were reported as
developmentally vulnerable on two or more domains, compared to 10.8 per cent of children
nationally.
This difference is not surprising given that Queensland has consistently reported lower
proportions of children 'on track' than national proportions for each individual domain. It is
positive to note, however, that there has been a decrease in Queensland's proportion of
children developmentally vulnerable between 2009 and 2012. For example, the proportion of
children developmentally vulnerable on one or more domains is down from 29.6 per cent in
2009 to 26.2 in 2012.

Figure 10: Proportion of children developmentally vulnerable on one or more
domains, Queensland and Australia, 2009 and 2012
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Source: Australian Early Development Census, 2012, Australian data
Notes: The AEDC data is a population measure of child development only. Data are only included when there are more than 15
children and 2 teachers participating in the survey within each geographical area.

25 Children who score above the 25 percentile (in the top 75 per cent) of the national AEDC population'. (AEDC, How to
understand the AEDC results, accessed 31/7/2015).
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Queensland goals

Progress on implementing the child protection reforms
Queensland's state goals in relation to child protection are primarily captured in the current
Stronger Families reform agenda resulting from the QCPCOI.
In June 2013, the QCPCOI released its final report, providing 121 recommendations, all of
which were accepted by the Queensland Government in December 2013 (6 accepted in
principle). The implementation of the reform program is overseen by the Child Protection
Reform Leaders Group, consisting of senior executives of government agencies with
responsibility for child protection outcomes, as well as key non−government organisations.
The QCPCOI provided a roadmap which proposed the reforms be implemented in three
phases over a ten year period (2013−14 to 2018−19). The QCPCOI recommended the first
year of the reform program (Phase 1) be used to plan and establish the foundations of the
program and design response in consultation with key stakeholders.

A number of actions were prioritised for deliver in the planning and early roll−out phases,
including creation of governance and program management arrangements, and early
legislative amendments to establish the systems and structures to support the
implementation of the reform program.
Phase 2(2014−15 to 2018−19) focuses on a gradual rollout of reform strategies and trials.
This allows for non−government organisations to build their capacity and workforce capability
to effectively deliver the new services models. It also enables reform strategies to be trialled
in identified locations and adjusted as needed, and for specific characteristics and needs of
rural and regional communities to be considered, and an adaptive management approach to
be taken.
This following summary provides an overview of activities undertaken in 2014−15.
A key focus of the reform program is diverting families and children away from the statutory
child protection system by providing them with appropriate early support. To enable this,
legislative amendments to the Child Protection Act 1999 were passed in May 2014,
establishing a dual referral pathway with community−based intake and increasing the
threshold for a statutory response. This allows families to be referred to support services
without coming into contact with the DCCSDS, thus reducing the burden on the tertiary
system. Key agencies with mandatory child safety reporting obligations (Queensland Police
Service, Department of Education and Training, Queensland Health) amended their
reporting arrangements in accordance with the new legislation to improve child protection
risk assessment and to ensure children and families receive the appropriate support and
response.
In order for the dual pathway to work effectively, families must be referred to a
comprehensive and coordinated service system. In order to strengthen the service system,
DCCSDS rolled out the first seven Family and Child Connect (FaCC) services and Intensive
Family Support (IFS) services across Queensland in January 2015. These roll−outs occurred
in Logan, Been leigh/Bayside, Gold Coast, Sunshine Coast, Toowoomba, Roma and
Townsville. Further roll−outs will occur in Moreton Bay, Browns Plains/Beaudesert, Ipswich,
Rockhampton/Gladstone/Emerald, Maryborough/Bundaberg and South Burnett in July 2015.
The FaCC organisations provide community−based intake services, receiving reports of
harm or suspected harm deemed below the threshold required for notifying DCCSDS.
However, any cases assessed by the FaCC as exceeding this threshold can be escalated to
DCCSDS. To complement the expansion of service delivery, DCCSDS rolled out a single
case plan approach for high−needs families, providing a lead professional who can
coordinate support across a range of services.
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DCCSDS also commenced pilot programs in three regions (North Coast, Central
Queensland and Far North Queensland) to determine the best way to support children with a
disability, so families are better able to care for children at home.

Complementing the FaCC−IFS rollout is a trial of new models of service delivery to Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander people within discrete communities. A number of service delivery
models will be piloted across several sites. The first pilot commenced in January 2015 at
Palm Island. Cherbourg and Woorabinda have been identified as pilot sites for 2015−16.

The Public Safety Business Agency commenced research to review the support provided to
people in discrete communities who seek domestic violence orders. This is in recognition of
the significant overlap between family violence and child protection.

The Department of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Partnerships evaluated the Alcohol
Management Plan (AMP) review process to ensure the safety, health and wellbeing of
women, children and unborn children will not be compromised by changes to AMP
arrangements. Department of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Partnerships also
implemented between December 2014 and March 2015 a 'Dry Place' Declaration
promotional strategy. This was aimed at reducing alcohol misuse by establishing 'dry place'
households within discrete communities.
Development of a number of initiatives designed to improve cultural responsivity of the child
protection and family support systems for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children and
families commenced during 2014−15. DCCSDS is developing a state−wide model for
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Family Support Services which will broaden eligibility
for access to these services, and integrate a number of existing programs, to be
implemented mid−2016. DCCSDS has also selected four trial sites (Ipswich, Mount Isa,
Cairns and the Torres Strait) for an Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Practice Reform
project. This project is designed to improve decision making in Family Group Meetings, to
provide cultural links to children in care and to implement a shared practice model aimed at
improving collaboration between Recognised Entities and Child Safety Officers.

Improved career progression for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander workers is a priority.
During this financial year, 14 scholarships and three cadetships were awarded to Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander workers by DCCSDS. Funding has been provided to the
Queensland Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Child Protection Peak, also known as
QATSICPP, to appoint two Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Practice Leaders.
QATSICPP was also awarded a contract to improve service delivery standards, workforce
development and governance arrangements for Aboriginal and Torres StraitIslander−controlled

agencies.
DCCSDS appointed seven Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Practice Leaders by
February 2015 with a state−wide induction program delivered in May 2015. Practice leaders
have a lead role in each respective region's implementation team.
The changes to the child protection system require a new way of working with children and
families. To help achieve this, DCCSDS launched the new Strengthening Families Protecting
Children Framework for Practice (practice framework) in March 2015 and deliveredstate−wide

training across the sector. The new practice framework is designed to support Child
Safety practitioners to engage with children and families in ways that are strengths−based,
manage risks appropriately and involve families in the decision−making processes.
Implementation of this framework is coordinated by a central office Quality Practice team to
provide ongoing messaging and ensure the framework values and principles are embedded
across the department. For example, revised role descriptions for Child Safety Officers have
been developed and implemented and an agency policy has been implemented to identify
the requisite qualifications for officers. DCCSDS will continue to embed the framework
during 2015−16.
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The Department of Justice and Attorney−General commenced reforms to the Child rens Court
and the Queensland Civil and Administrative Tribunal in 2015. The changes are designed to
ensure that decisions made in courts and tribunals are fair, timely and focused on the best
interests of the child.
In August 2014, Childrens Court Magistrates were appointed in six key locations
(Maroochydore, Beenleigh, Southport, Ipswich, Townsville and Cairns) to provide expertise
in relation to child protection matters. A number of key initiatives scheduled to commence in
2015−16 will enable courts to actively manage child protection cases and improve evidence
quality. These include development and implementation of a Court Case Management
Framework and a revised Child Protection Benchbook, the establishment of the new Director
of Child Protection, and changes to Queensland Civil and Administrative Tribunal practices
and procedures.
Once children enter the child protection system it is vital they have access to support and
advice. On 1 July 2014 the Office of the Public Guardian was formed, merging the Child
Guardian function from the CCYPCG with the Adult Guardian. The Community Visitor
Program, was transferred from the CCYPCG to the Office of the Public Guardian and
refocused to support the most vulnerable children in out−of−home−care. Community Visitors
meet regularly with children, with the frequency of meetings based on the children's needs,
to help address their concern and safeguard their rights.

The Office of the Public Guardian also established a new Child Advocate program, which
links children in out−of−home−care with individuals who can represent their interests and
ensure their voices are heard in decision−making forums, such as courts and tribunals. In
July 2014, Advocacy Hubs were established in Brisbane, Ipswich and Townsville and a
state−wide Virtual Hub was launched. In February 2015, Office of the Public Guardian
launched its first purpose−built Advocacy Hub in Cairns, providing children with a place to
access support, advice and connect with services.
Provision of appropriate care and support to children in out−of−home care is an obligation of
the state and an important component of the reform program. To understand the level of the
match between the capacity of placement types to care for children, and the needs of
children in care, DCCSDS completed an analysis of placement types and the levels of
support needed by all children in June 2015.
PeakCare Queensland Inc. has been contracted by DCCSDS to develop a therapeutic
residential care framework for children and young people exhibiting complex behavioural
problems and high levels of placement instability. This framework will be implemented in
2016. DCCSDS also commenced the transfer of foster and kinship care services tonon−government

agencies with this work due to be finalised in 2015−16.

The QCPCOI Report identified the transition from care as a particularly vulnerable time for
children and young people. DCCSDS has been auditing the files of children on long−term
guardianship orders to determine whether this type of care remains in their best interests, or
if they should be transitioned out of care. Sixty−six percent of cases had been reviewed by
June 2015. In March 2015, DCCSDS launched a new program called Next Steps designed
to improve the support provided to young people as they transition to independence.
To strengthen local governance of the reforms, nine child safety Regional Child and Family
Committees were established in 2013−14. The committees are responsible for coordinating
the achievement of regional goals, raising awareness of regional differences and ensuring
service delivery models meet the needs of local communities.
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The Child Death Case Review Panel, which comprises internal departmental officers and
external members, expert across a range of fields, was appointed and inducted, with the first
panel meeting held in October 2014.
To improve oversight of transitionally funded residential placements, DCCSDS undertook a
process to ensure providers are accredited, or in the process of becoming accredited,
subject to the Human Services Quality Framework accreditation process. This is the same
level of oversight provided to grant−funded residential placements.

Blue card employment screening was transferred to the Public Safety Business Agency in
July 2014.
The QFCC was established on 1 July 2014 to promote the safety and well−being of child and
young people and facilitate sustainable improvements in the child protection and family
support systems. QFCC is leading the development of workforce development and cultural
change strategies for the sector, and consultation for this work commenced in 2015. QFCC
launched the first stage of the Talking Families public education campaign in November
2014, which encouraged parents to seek support from family and friends. The second phase
of the campaign will be rolled out in 2015−16.

Queensland's performance overtime in comparison to other jurisdictions
The Productivity Commission publishes national data annually in the Report on Government
Services according to a framework of performance indicators for child protection andout−of−home

care services.26 The framework provides information on equity, efficiency and
effectiveness and distinguishes between outputs and outcomes. It is against this framework
that Queensland's performance in comparison to other jurisdictions is assessed with eight of
the ten effectiveness indicators for which data are available and generally comparable.27

These indicators are:
− response times to commence and complete investigations
− substantiation rate
− stability of placement
− children aged under 12 years in home−based care
− placement with extended family
− placement in accordance with the Indigenous Child Placement Principle.
− children with current case plans, and
− improved safety.

To appraise Queensland's performance on each of these indicators, we compared
Queensland data (primarily proportions) with data from individual jurisdictions as well as
national totals or adjusted totals. This was considered the most appropriate framework to
compare indicators across jurisdictions because of the specific focus on child protection,
regularity of reporting, and continued work towards additional outcome measurement. It
should be noted, however, that significant legislative, policy and practice differences exist
between jurisdictions and, as a result, comparisons between jurisdictions are necessarily
limited by these differences.

26 Productivity Commission, Report on Government Services 2015, p15.18. This was considered the most appropriate
framework to compare indicators across jurisdictions because of the specific focus on child protection, regularity of reporting,
and continued work towards additional outcome measurement.
27 Two effectiveness indicators were not included in our analysis. Data for safety in out−of−home care' is not comparable due to
differences across jurisdictions in policies, practices and reporting methods. Data on improved education are not available for
NSW, Victoria, Western Australia, Tasmania, the ACT and the Northern Territory. As a result, a national comparison of
Queensland's performance in this area is currently infeasible.
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In making qualitative judgements regarding Queensland's performance, we considered
performance 'satisfactory' when Queensland data was on par with, or better than, national
totals or the majority of states and territories. Where this was not the case, Queensland
performance is considered as 'requiring improvement'.28

Each of the performance indicators is discussed in turn using the most recent" national child
protection data.

Investigation response times
Two measures are used to capture and compare response times: time to commence an
investigation and time to complete an investigation.
Response time to commence investigations is the number of days between the date a
department records a notification and the date the investigation is subsequently
commenced. It is a measure of how promptly a department responds to child protection
concerns, with fewer days more desirable.
Queensland has the longest response time to commence investigations (see table below). In
2013−14, the majority of Australian states and territories commenced over half of
investigations within seven days. In contrast, Queensland commenced less than a third of
investigations within seven days (32.6%), considerably lower than the national average of
59.0 per cent. Queensland also had the highest proportion of investigations taking 29 days
or more to commence representing 39.5 per cent of all finalised investigations, compared
with the national average of 18.4 per cent.

Table 7. Proportion of finalised investigations, by time taken to commence
investigation, 2013−14

59.5 76.4 32.6 57.4 74.2 44.0 71.4 81.5

12.2 15.3 11,4 9.3 13.4 13.0 17.7 8.5

6.0 4.8 9.0 6.2

4.1 1.9 7.5 4.2

18.3 1.6 39.5 22.8

100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0

Source: ROGS, Table 15A.15

4.4 9.5 6.1 3.1

2.5 7.9 3.1 1.2

5.5 25.5 1.7 5.8

59.0

12.3

6.2

4.2

18.4

100,0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0

Note: Caution should be used when interpreting results as jurisdictions count notifications at different points in response to a
report, and have different policies and protocols governing the type of response to a notification.

Queensland's relative performance in this area has been consistent over the past three
years. In comparison to other states and territories, Queensland has commenced the lowest
proportion of investigations within seven days and the greatest proportion in 29 days or
more. For example, over half of the investigations finalised in Queensland in 2013−14 took
29 days or more to commence, while with the exception of Tasmania, all other states and
territories commenced over half of their investigations within seven days (see Table 8 over
page).

28 These performance judgements are consistent with guidelines suggested by the DCCSDS, where good' performance is
above the national total or in the top three jurisdictions, moderate' is on the national total or ranked 41h_6th, and poor'
performance is where Queensland performance is below the national average or in the bottom three jurisdictions.
(Correspondence from P1, DCCSDS, 14/08/2015).
29 The most recent national child protection data is available for 2013−14 financial year. Data for 2014−15 will not be available
until January 2016.
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Table 8. Proportion of investigations finalised, by time taken to commence
investigation, Australian states and territories, 2011−12 to 2013−14

Up to 7 days

8 to 28 days

29 days +

Up to 7 days

8 to 28 days

29 days +

Up to 7 days

8 to 28 days

29 days +

53.1

25.1

21.9

58.0

21.5

20.5

59.5

22.2

18.3

77.1

19.4

3.6

78.2

18.4

3.3

76.4

22.0

1.6

27.0

19.1

53.9

31.5

26.4

42.0

32.6

27.9

39.5

51.0

19.7

29.2

48.6

22.7

28.7

57.4

79.2

15.5

5.3

76.7

18.4

4.9

74.2

19.7 20.3

22.8 5.5

55.6

28.1

16.3

51.6

33.1

15.3

44.0

30.5

25.5

91.9

6.8

1.4

87.7

10.9

1.4

71.4

26.9

1.7

79.4

10.6

9.9

92.4

6.3

1.3

81.5

12.7

5.8

Source: ROGS, Table 15A.15
Note: Caution should be used when interpreting results as jurisdictions count notifications at different points in response to a
report, and have different policies and protocols governing the type of response to a notification.

It is important to note, however, that there are significant differences between jurisdictions in
regards to the stage at which a notification is counted and recorded, the action constituting
the commencement of an investigation, and the policy and legislation requirements for
commencement timeframes based on the seriousness of the concern. Further, Queensland
was the only jurisdiction to respond to all notifications by conducting an investigation and
assessment. As a result, these timeframes are not directly comparable. Despite this
limitation, the timeliness of the commencement of investigations in Queensland requires
improvement.
Response time to complete investigations measures the number of days between the date a
department records a notification and the date the investigation outcome is determined by
the department. It is a measure of the department's effectiveness in conducting timely
investigations, with fewer days preferable.

In 2013−14 Queensland recorded that 26.5 per cent of investigations were completed within
28 days, substantially lower than the national average of 45.8 per cent (see Table 9 below).
However, with the exception of NSW−which completed almost two thirds of investigations
within 28 days−all states and territories completed between 19.5 and 37.1 per cent of
investigations within this time frame. The majority of investigations in Queensland were
finalised within 29 and 62 days (35.7%). While this result is more comparable with other
jurisdictions, there is room for improvement in Queensland's performance on response times
to compare investigations. Significant legislative, policy and practice differences between
jurisdictions do, however, limit the comparability of these data.
Table 9. Proportion of investigations finalised, by time taken to complete
investigation, Australian states and territories, 2013−14

53.5

21.2

25.2

57.5

21,5

21.0

59.0

22.6

18.4

62.9 33.6 26.5 27.6 31.7 29.2 19.5 37.1 45,8

19.2 29.9 35.7 27.2 33.0 31.9 44.7 27.1 25.7

9.7 15.1 17.0 16.1 14.1 16.5 18.6 10.5 12.8

8.2 21.5 20.9 29.1 21.3 22.4 17.3 25.4 15.7

100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0

Source: ROGS, Table 15A.16
Note: Caution should be used when interpreting results as jurisdictions count notifications at different points in response to a
report, and have different policies and protocols governing the type of response to a notification.
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Queensland's performance on this measure has improved in recent years (see Table 10
below). The proportion of investigations completed within 28 days has increased from 20.0
per cent in 2011−12 to 26.5 per cent in 2013−14. Perhaps most importantly, the proportion of
investigations in Queensland taking more than 90 days to complete has dropped from 36.7
per cent in 2011−12 to 20.9 per cent of all finalised investigations in 2013−14.
It is expected that the implementation of a differential response model will have an impact on
investigation response times. In addition to improving the support available to families, the
establishment of alternatives to an investigation in response to a child protection notification
is likely to reduce the investigative workload of child safety officers, allowing for a more
timely investigation and assessment process.

Table 10. Proportion of investigations finalised, by time taken to complete
investigation, Australian states and territories, 2011−12 to 2013−14.

< 2 8 days

29 to 90 days

90 days ±

< 2 8 days

29 to 90 days

90 days +

< 2 8 days

29 to 90 days

90 days +

46.5 30.3 20.0

22.7 42.6 43.3

30.8 27.1 36.7

43.7 31.3 27.0

26.9 44.9 51.3

29.4 23.9 21.8

62.9 33.6 26.5

28.9 44.9 52.7

8.2 21.5 20.9

29.7

36.7

33.6

27.3

39.9

32.8

27.6

43.3

29.1

41.5

39.1

19.4

31.5

38.0

30.5

31.7

47.1

21.3

44.9

44.2

10.9

48.5

39.9

11.7

29.2

48.4

22.4

58.1 57.2

38.9 28.6

3.1 14.1

28.2 57.5

59.0 25.9

12.8 16.6

19.5 37.1

63.3 37.6

17.3 25.4

Source: ROGS, Table 15A.16
Note: Caution should be used when interpreting results as jurisdictions count notifications at different points in response to a
report, and have different policies and protocols governing the type of response to a notification.

Proportion of notifications substantiated

37.4

32.7

30.0

36.4

37.2

26.4

45.8

38.5

15.7

The substantiation rate is the proportion of finalised investigations where harm or risk of
harm was confirmed. Neither a very high nor a very low substantiations rate is desirable. A
very low rate may suggest that investigations are not accurately identifying harm or risk of
harm. A very high rate may indicate that the criteria for substantiation are bringing some
families unnecessarily into the statutory system.
In 2013−14, 36.1 per cent of investigations in Queensland were substantiated (see Figure 11
below). This substantiation rate is lower than the national average of 42.7 per cent, and
lower than the majority of other states and territories, with only Western Australia reporting a
lower substantiation rate of 30.1 per cent. Queensland's rate of substantiation has remained
reasonably steady over the past three years up to 2013−14.
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Figure 11. Proportion of finalised investigations substantiated, Australian states and
territories, 2011−12 to 2013−14.
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Source: ROGS, Table 15A9

Queensland's relatively low rate of substantiation suggests some investigations are being
conducted unnecessarily. The QCPCOI similarly concluded that the prevailing practice in
Queensland requiring all notifications to be investigated was inappropriate. To address this
issue, two of the most significant initiatives of the current reform agenda are to provide
opportunities for families to be diverted from the statutory system at both the reporting stage
with a dual−reporting pathway, and at the notification stage with the differential response
model. These changes will allow children and families to receive the support they need from
the secondary system, while reducing the number of investigations conducted by the
department. It is expected that the substantiation rate in Queensland will increase over the
coming years as these changes are implemented.

Stability of placement

Stability of placement is one indicator of how well services meet the needs of children inout−of−home
care. The Productivity Commission measures stability of placement as the

proportion of children on an order who exited care during the period, by their number of
placements and their length of time in out−of−home care. It is generally agreed that a low
number of placements is desirable.
However, this must be balanced against other placement quality indicators and the needs of
children, including, for example, placements in culturally−appropriate care and placements
with siblings.
For Queensland children who exited out−of−home care after between two and five years in
care, placement stability was reasonably consistent with the total for all other states and
territories (see figure below). Specifically, of those children exiting after between two and five
years in care in 2013−14, 44 per cent of children in Queensland had experienced only one or
two placements, compared to the average of 43 per cent for other jurisdictions. The
proportion of children who had experienced between three and five placements was
equivalent for both Queensland children and the average from other states and territories at
39 per cent (38.8% in Queensland and an average of 39.0% for other states and territories).
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However, in comparison to other jurisdictions, Queensland children exiting after five or more
years in out−of−home care are less likely to have been in one or two placements and more
likely to have experienced between six and ten placements. Exiting after five or more years
in care, only one−quarter of Queensland children in 2013−14 had experienced one or two
placements, compared to 44.2 per cent across all other states and territories. The largest
proportion (34.3%) of Queensland children who exited after five or more years had
experienced between six and ten placements during their time in care (34.3%), compared to
17.5 per cent for all other states and territories.
Figure 12. Children on a care and protection order exiting out−of−home care during the
year, by number of placements and length of time in care (per cent), Queensland and
other states and territories, 201314

More than 5ye
Other jurisdicti: r

More than 5 ye
Queensland

2 to 5 years
Other jurisdictio

2 to 5 years
Queensle 1

Less than 2 years
Other jurisdictior

Less than 2 yer
Qu cc nsla n

31.8

30.4

39

38.8

17.5

34.3

15.4

16.3

19.7 2.9

22 1.1
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PROPORTION

1−2 placements 3−5 placements 6−10 placements it 11 or more placements

Source: Table 15A.26
Note: Figures for other states and territories were calculated using data for all jurisdiction with the exception of Queensland.

In 2013−14 Queensland recorded 43.5 per cent of children in one or two placements for all
children on an order exiting care after 12 months or more (see Table 11 below). In 2011−12,
only 38.2 per cent of children on an order exiting care after 12 months or more experienced
only one or two placements.

Table 11. Proportion of children on a care and protection order and exiting care after
12 months or more in 1 2 placements, 2011=12 to 2013=14

52.7 53.9 38.2

53.3 54.6 37.7

51.6 48.4 435

Source: ROGS, Table 15A.26

n a

n a

na

44.4 51.3

44.4 50.8

36.6 47.4

47.9

59.7

51.9

40.5 48,0

43,7 48.6

33.3 46.9

It is apparent from Queensland's performance on the stability of placement measure that
more work is needed to improve placement stability for children in care in Queensland,
particularly for those children who have been in care for longer periods of time.
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Children aged under 12 years in home−based care
Home−based care is generally considered the best option for caring for children, especially
younger children. This measure is defined as the number of children aged under 12 years
placed in home−based care divided by the total number of children aged under 12 years in
out−of−home care.
Queensland performs well on this measure. As shown in the below Table 12, 97.7 per cent
of children aged under 12 years in out−of−home care in Queensland were in a home−based
placement as at 30 June 2014. This represents the median in comparison to other states
and territories, with a range from 91.4 per cent in South Australia to a high of 99.6 per cent in
NSW. Queensland's proportion has remained between 97 and 98 per cent over the last
three years.

Table 12. Proportion of children aged under 12 years in out−of−home care in ahome−based
placement, as at 30 June 2012, 2013, and 2014.

99.5 98.0 97.4 93.1 91.0 97.8 99.2 90.2 97.5

99.5 98.5 98.1 84.8 92.0 96.0 98.2 93.5 96,5

99.6 98.1 97.7 93.6 91.4 95,7 98.8 92.4 97.6

Source: ROGS, Table 15A25

Placement with extended family
Placing children with extended family is associated with better child outcomes due to
increased continuity, familiarity and stability for the child. As the generally preferred
placement option for children, a high or increasing rate for this indicator is desirable.
Placement with extended family is the proportion of all children in out−of−home care placed
with relatives or kin who receive government financial assistance to care for the child.
In 2013−14, Queensland had the third lowest proportion of children placed with extended
family at 40.4 per cent of children in out−of−home care and lower than the national total of
48.5 per cent (see below Figure 13). This represents an improvement on performance in
recent years, up from 34.6 per cent as at 30 June 2012.

Figure 13. Proportion of children in out−of−home care placed with relatives/kin, as at
30 June 2012 to 2014
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There are a number of factors that may affect the placement of children with extended
family, including the availability and suitability of family members to care for the child, as well
as other placement considerations, such as ensuring the continuity of education or
maintaining contact with parents. Nevertheless, Queensland's current performance is
unsatisfactory and significant improvement in this area is needed.
Placement of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children

All Australian states and territories have adopted a hierarchy of placement options when
placing Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children in care. The Indigenous Child
Placement Principle specifies the following placement preferences:

placement with the child's extended family
placement within the child's Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander community, and
placement with other Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people.

The performance indicator 'placement in accordance with the Indigenous Child Placement
Principle' is defined as the number of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children placed
within one of the above placement options, divided by the total number of Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander children in out−of−home care. A high or increasing proportion is
desirable.
Compared with other states and territories, Queensland's performance on children placed in
accordance with the Indigenous Child Placement Principle is relatively poor. Of the 3,336
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children in care in Queensland as at 30 June 2014, only
55.1 per cent were placed with relatives or kin, other Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
carer, or in an Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander residential care service (see below
Figure 14). This result is lower than the national proportion of 68.7 per cent. Queensland's
performance on this indicator has increased slightly from 53.7 per cent recorded in 2012.

Figure 14. Total proportion of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children inout−of−home
care placed in accordance with the Indigenous Child Placement Principle,

Australian states and territories, a s at 30 June 2014
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The QCPCOI noted that there is unlikely to be a significant improvement in the proportion of
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children being placed with family or kin untilover−representation

of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children in the Queensland child
protection system eases. The Inquiry report did, however, make several recommendations
designed to improve the application of the Indigenous Child Placement Principle in
Queensland.

Children with current case plans
A case plan is an individualised, living document that includes information on children in
need of protection, including needs, risks, health, education, living arrangements, goals for
ongoing intervention and actions required to achieve these goals. A current case plan is one
that has been approved or reviewed within the previous 12 months. A high rate of children
with a current case plan is desirable.

Compared to other jurisdictions, Queensland performs well on the proportion of children with
documented case plans. As at 30 June 2014, 97.1 per cent of Queensland children subject
to ongoing intervention had a case plan, second only to Victoria with almost 99 per cent of
children (98.7%). Queensland's performance is also substantially higher than the national
total of 82.1 per cent.

Table 13. Proportion of children subject to ongoing intervention with a current case
plan, asat3OJune, 2012to2014

na na 97.1 82.9 na 48.3 85.7 na
55.8 na 97.0 86.3 na 68.6 75.0 na
69.2 98.7 97.1 85.2 na 71.2 81,8 na

Source. ROGS, Table 15A.17

89.2

75.1

82.1

It should be noted, however, that policies and legislation varies across jurisdictions regarding
the timeframes within which children are required to have case plans prepared. These
differences limit the comparability between various states and territories.

Improved Safety
Improved safety is assessed by two measures:

substantiation rate after a decision not to substantiate, defined as the proportion of
children who were the subject of an investigation in the previous financial year that
led to a decision not to substantiate, and who were later the subject of a
substantiation within 3 or 12 months of the initial decision not to substantiate
substantiation rate after a prior substantiation, defined as the proportion of children
who were the subject of a substantiation in the previous financial year, who were
subsequently the subject of a further substantiation within the following 3 or 12
months.

This indicator partly reveals the extent to which an investigation has not succeeded in
identifying the risk of harm to a child who is subsequently the subject of substantiated harm,
as well as the effectiveness of any intervention offered following the initial investigation. It is
important to note, however, that familial circumstances may have changed in the period
between investigations. Further, the measure does not distinguish whether the subsequent
substantiation is for the same or a different source of harm as the initial investigation. It
should also be noted that due to differences between jurisdictions in definitions of
substantiations, there is limited comparability of data across states and territories.
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Queensland's performance on the proportion of children subject to a substantiation following
a decision not to substantiate is within a similar range to other jurisdictions. In Queensland,
4.2 per cent of the children subject to a decision not to substantiate in 2012−13 were subject
to a substantiation within three months (see Figure 15). Other states and territories varied on
this measure from a low of 3.1 per cent in Western Australia to a high of 7.7 per cent in
South Australia. Similarly, 11.6 per cent of children subject to a decision not to substantiate
in Queensland in 2012−13 were subject to a substantiation within 12 months, compared with
a national range from 9.0 per cent (in Western Australia) to 16.5 per cent (in New South
Wales).

Figure 15, Proportion of children subject to a decision not to substantiate, subject to a
substantiation within 3 or 12 months, Australian states and territories, 2012−13
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Source. ROGS, Table 15A. 10

Similarly, Queensland's performance on the proportion of children subject to a substantiation
within three and 12 months of a substantiation is reasonably analogous comparable to other
jurisdictions, with Queensland results around the middle of those reported by other states
and territories (see below Figure 16). In Queensland, of the children subject to a
substantiation in 2012−13, 8.6 per cent were subject to an additional substantiation within
three months. This compares to resubstantiation rates between a low of 2.6 per cent in
Victoria to a high of 16.8 per cent in the ACT. Of those Queensland children subject to a
substantiation in 2012−13, 19.8 per cent were subject to a subsequent substantiation within
12 months. National rates varied from 13.2 per cent in Victoria to 28.4 per cent in the ACT.
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Figure 16. Proportion of children subject to a substantiation, experiencing a
subsequent substantiation within three or 12 months, Australian states and
territories, 2012−13
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Summary
Overall, our assessment of the most recent publicly available national child protection data
suggests that Queensland is performing satisfactorily in some areas, while performance in
other areas requires improvement. Table 14 below summarises the key result for each
measure, supporting data, and our assessment of the acceptability of these results.

Table 14. Summary of key results and QFCC assessment by measure

Response time to Fewer investigations are 32.6% in Queensland Requires
commence commenced within seven days in compared to the national total improvement
investigations Queensland of 59.0%
Response time to Fewer Queensland investigations 26.5% in Queensland Requires
complete completed within 28 days compared to the national total improvement
investigations of 45,8%
Substantiation Fewer investigations are 36.1% in Queensland Requires
rate substantiated in Queensland compared to the national total improvement

of 42.7%
Stability of Queensland children in care for 34.3% of Queensland children Requires
placement five or more years are more likely exiting care after five years or improvement

to have experienced between 6 more had experienced between
and 10 placements, and less likely 6 and 10 placements,
to have had only I or 2 placements compared to 17.5% of children
than children elsewhere in in all other statesandterritories;

25.3% of
Australia Queensland children had

experienced one or two
placements, compared to
44.2% of children in other
jurisdictions

Children aged The majority of Queensland 97.7% of Queensland children Satisfactory
under 12 years in children aged under 12 years are compared to the national total
home−based care in home−based care of 97.6%
Placement with Fewer children are placed with 40.4% of Queensland children Requires
extended family extended family in Queensland in out−of−home care, compared improvement

to the national total of 48.5%
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Placement in Fewer Queensland Indigenous 55.1% of Queensland

accordance with children are placed with kin or Indigenous children placed in
the Indigenous Indigenous carers accordance with the placement
Child Placement principle compared to 68.7%
Principle for all jurisdictions
Children with The majority of children in 97.1% of Queensland children;
current case plans Queensland children have a national total is 82.1%

Substantiation
following a
decision not to
substantiate

Substantiation
following a
substantiation

current case plan
A smaller proportion of
Queensland children were subject
to a substantiation within 12
months following a decision not to
substantiate than in other states
and territories
Re−substantiations in Queensland
are around the middle of other
states and territories

Note: Data presented in this table refers to the 2013−14 financial year.

Requires
improvement

Satisfactory

11.6% compared to a range of Satisfactory
9.0% to 16.5%

19,8% of Queensland children Satisfactory
were re−substantiated within 12
months, compared to a range
of 13.4% to 28.4% in other
jurisdictions

Queensland's performance on these indicators is expected to be affected over the coming
years with the continued implementation of the reform agenda, most notably, the significant
investment in developing the secondary support system. The QFCC will continue to examine
and appraise Queensland's performance in these areas in comparison to other states and
territories, as one part of our systemic oversight role.

Improving outcomes for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children are over−represented in the child protection
system throughout Australia. Reducing the gap between Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander and non−Indigenous children is a national priority to ensure Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander families and communities are able to provide their children with the safe and
supportive environments to reach their full potential.3°

In Queensland, there are almost 86,000 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children,
representing 7.7 per cent of all children.31 In comparison to non−Indigenous children, in the
Queensland child protection system Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children are:

five times more likely to be notified
six times more likely to suffer harm, and
eight times more likely to be in out−of−home care.

The QCPCOI Report found that the existing child protection system was not ensuring the
safety, wellbeing and best interests of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children. 'It is
deeply concerning that estimates indicate around half of all Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander children are known to the child protection system'.32 The QCP001 Report identified
several focus areas aimed at reducing the numbers of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
children in the system, and made specific recommendations in these areas.

° National Framework for Protecting Australia's Children, Second three−year action plan, 2012−2015.
31 Based on estimated residential population for Indigenous and non−Indigenous children aged 0 to 17 years in Queensland, as
at 30 June 2013.
32 Statement of Brad Swan, as published in the QCPCOI Report, Taking Responsibility: A Roadmap for Queensland Child
Protection, page 324.
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These areas are:
− delivering appropriate and accessible preventative and early intervention and family

support services
− improving practice in the statutory system to enhance the role of Recognised

Entities
− strengthening Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander child protection agencies, and
− catering for the particular needs of children in discrete Aboriginal and Torres Strait

Islander communities where over−representation is acute.
The QFCC will monitor and assess Queensland's progress in reducing the numbers of, and
improving the outcomes for, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children in the child
protection system. This progress will be assessed using data on intakes, substantiations,
ongoing intervention, case planning, and re−entry.
It is envisioned that additional performance indicators developed throughout the reform
implementation and review process will be incorporated into the current suite of measures.
Table 15 presents data for the 12 months ending both 31 March 2014 and 31 March 2015,
representing a baseline against which Queensland's progress in addressingover−representation

will be assessed. Data for March 2015 are the latest publicly available data.
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Table 15. Key performance indicators for assessing the over−representation of Indigenous children in
the Queensland child protection system, year ending 31 March 2014 and 2015

Intakes

Children subject to an intake'

Year ending 31 March 2014 Number
Rate per 1000

Year ending 31 March 2015 Number
Rate per 1000

Children subject to an intake for the first time
Year ending 31 March 2014 Per cent
Year ending 31 March 2015 Percent
Children subject to a notification

Year ending 31 March 2014
Number
Rate per 1,000
Number

indigenous Non All childrenindigenous

17,133 60,448 77,581
200.0 59.2 70.1

16,042 54,087 70,129
187.2 53.0 63.4

21.4 41.5 37.1
20.1 38.1 34.0

Year ending 3l March 2015 Rate per 1,000
Substantiations
Children subject to a substantiation2

Year ending 31 March 2014
Number
Rate per 1,000

Year ending 31 March 2015
Number
Rate per 1,000

Proportion of substantiations where child was assessed as in need of protection
Year ending 31 March 2014 Per cent
Year ending 31 March 2015 Per cent
Ongoing Intervention
Children subject to ongoing intervention'
Year ending 31 March 2014 Number

Rate per 1,000
Year ending 31 March 2015 Number

Rate per 1,000
Children subject to Intervention with Parental Agreement

Year ending 31 March 2014 Number
Rate per 1,000

Year ending 31 March 2015
Number
Rate per 1,000

Children subject to a Child Protection Order

Year ending 31 March 2014
Number
Rate per 1,000

Year ending 31 March 2015
Number
Rate per 1,000

Children subject to a !ong•term Child Protection Order

Year ending 31 March 2014
Number
Rate per 1,000

Year ending 31 March 2015 Number
Rate per 1,000

Children in out−of−rome care

Year ending 31 March 2014
NumberRate

per 1,000

Year ending 31 March 2015
NumberRate

per 1,000

5,905 14,515
68.9 14.2

5,693 13,872
66.5 13.6

2,203
25.7

2,063
24.1

76.8
77.7

20,420
18.4

19,565
17.7

4,534 6,737
4.4 6.1

3,978 6,041
3.9 5.5

58.2 64.3
61.9 67.2

4,584 6,737 11,321
53.5 6.6 10.2

4,711 6,734 11,445
55.0 6.6 10.3

961 1263 2224
11.2 1.2 2.0
908 1,297 2,205
10.6 1.3 2.0

3,623 5,474 9,097
42.3 5.4 8.2

3,803 5,437 9,240
44.4 5.3 8.3

2,045 3,266 5,311
23.9 3.2 4.8

2,239 3,397 5,636
26.1 3,3 5.1

3,251 4,826 8,077
37.9 4.7 7.3

3,429 4,933 8,362
40 4.8 7.6
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Indigenous N o n − A l l childrenIndigenous
Case planning
Ind igenous Child Placement Pr incip le (!('PP)
Proportion of Indigenous children placed in accordance with the ICCP
Year ending 31 March 2014 Per cent 55.5
Year ending 31 March 2015 Per cent 54.4
Case plans
Proportion of children with a current case plan
Year ending 3 l March 2014 Percent 93.5 92.3 92.8
Year ending 3 l March 2015 Percent 92.9 93.2 93
Cultural Suppor t Plans
Proportion of Indigenous children with a cultural support plan4
Year ending 31 March 2014 Percent 95.0
Year ending 31 March 2015 Percent 95.9
Proportion of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children with a current cultural support plan5
Year ending 31 March 2014 Per cent 93.5
Year ending 31 March 2015 Percent 93.0
Transition from care
Proportion of children aged over 15 years with transition from care planning
Year ending 31 March 2014 Per cent 71.7 72.0 71.9
Year ending 31 March 2015 Per cent 69.9 72.7 71.7
Proportion of children aged over 15 years with transition from care planning who participated in their planning
Year ending 31 March 2014 Percent 89.2 91.3 90.6
Year ending 31 March 2015 Percent 90.2 91.3 90.9
Re−entry
Resubstant iat ion6
Proportion of children subject to a substantiation experiencing a resubstantiation within three months
Year ending 31 March 2014 Percent 10.0 8.1 8.7
Year ending 31 March 2015 Percent 8.6 7.7 8.0
Proportion of children subject to a substantiation experiencing a resubstantiation within 12 months
Year ending 31 March 2014 Percent 22.1 18.9 19.9
Year ending 31 March 2015 Percent 20.4 18.1 18.9
Substantiation after Unsubstantiation7
Children subject to an initial decision not to substantiate, experiencing a substantiation within three months
Year ending 31 March 2014 Per cent 4.5 3.6 3.9
Year ending 31 March 2015 Per cent 5.4 3.5 4.0
Children subject to an initial decision not to substantiate, experiencing a substantiation within 12 months
Year ending 3 l March 2014 Percent 14.2 9.9 11.0
Year ending 3 l March 2015 Percent 15.3 10.0 11.4

Source: DCCSDS
Notes: 'Non−Indigenous' includes non−Indigenous children and children whose Indigenous status is unknown or not stated. 'The
rate per 1,000 was calculated for both years using the estimated residential population for Indigenous and non−Indigenous
children as at 30 June 2013 sourced from the Queensland Government Statistician's Office.
1. If a child was subject to both an approved notification and an approved child concern report they are counted only once
according to their first intake type.
2. Notifications recorded during the reference period, where an assessment has been finalised and the investigation outcome
was recorded as substantiated within two months after the end of the reference period. If a child is subject to more than one
substantiation in the period, the child is counted only once.
3. Includes children subject to intervention with parental agreement or a child protection order. If a child is subject to both
intervention with parental agreement and a child protection order (such as an order directing a parent's actions), they are
counted only once as a child protection order.
4 The number of Indigenous children with a cultural support plan recorded on the central system as at the reference date.
5. The proportion of Indigenous children who require a cultural support plan review, where their cultural support plan was
created or reviewed in the past six months.
6. Resubstantiations are measured as the proportion of distinct children subject to substantiations during the reference year
who were the subject of a subsequent substantiation within a period of three or 12 months.
7. Children who were subject to a decision not to substantiate experiencing a subsequent substantiation are measured as the
proportion of distinct children subject to a decision not to substantiate during the reference year who were subject to a
substantiation within a period of three or 12 months.
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PART C GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT

8. Organisational structure
As was reported in the final Commission for Children and Young People and Child Guardian
Annual Report (2013−14), commencement of the QFCC on 1 July 2014 involved significant
effort in, firstly, managing the movement of staff, technology and infrastructure to agencies
receiving reallocated functions and, secondly, in creating the legislation and operating
environment to support the new QFCC.

The below figure provides an overview of the allocation and current management of the
functions performed by the former Commission following its closure on 30 June 2014.

Figure 17: PostQCPCOI functions of Queensland agencies

Carmody Inquiry − 121 recommendations for reform − (Jul
2013)

Child Death Case Blue Card Services
Review Committee Public Safety Business

DCCSDS Agency

Closure of CCYPCG

Oversight and
Collaborate

Queensland Family and
Child Commission

Child Advocacy
Function

Office of the Public
Guardian

Complaints
Queensland
Ombudsman

In general terms, the QFCC is approximately one quarter the size of the predecessor
Commission (42 compared with 192 FTEs). The organisational groupings of the QFCC's
functions are represented in the following figure.

Figure 18: QFCC organisational groupings

Evidence−based
Child protection &

family support
system

Queensland Family and Child Commission
(est. 1 July 2014)

42 FTEs (FY2014115)

Objectives

Building internal
capability

I Cross−sectoral'Public education partnerships
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9. Governance − financial management
The QFCC is a Statutory Body under the Family and Child Commission Act 2014 and for the
purposes of the:

Financial Accountability Act 2009
Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009, and
Statutory Bodies Financial Arrangements Act 1982.

Financial summary 2014−15
The financial summary provides an overview of QFCC's financial performance for 2014−15.
A detailed view of the Commission's financial performance for 2014−15 is provided in the
financial statements included in this Annual Report.
QFCC is committed to maintaining fiscal responsibility whilst meeting its objectives.

Table 16: Financial results

Income from Continuing Operations
Grants and other contributions 9,523
Other revenue 54

[Total Income from Continuing Operations 9,577

Expenses from Continuing Operations
Employee expenses 4,535
Supplies and services 4,633
Grants and subsidies 224
Depreciation and amortisation 224
Other expenses 20
Total Expenses from Continuing Operations 9,636

Operating Result from Continuing Operations (59)
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Table 17. Financial position

QFCC maintained a sound net asset position throughout the financial year and as at 30 June
2015 through effective financial management practices.

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Other current assets
Total Current Assets
Non−Current Assets
Intangible assets
Plant and equipment
Total Non−Current Assets

Total Assets
Current Liabilities
Payables
Accrued employee benefits
Total Liabilities

Net Assets
L q u ty
Contributed equity
Accumulated deficit
Total Eauitv

As the Commission only commenced operations on 1 July 2014 there are no prior year
comparative figures.

10. Governance—strategic management

407
127

5
539

1,204
247

1,451

1,990

279
143
422

1,568

1,627
(59)

1,568

Due to the significant differences in organisational size, structure, functions and staffing
profile, many of the governance arrangements that worked well in the predecessor
Commission were not fit for purpose for the QFCC. As such, a range of governance
committees were required to be established during our inaugural year to help drive effective
management and accountability in pursuit of our strategic outcomes. Further work will be
undertaken in the year ahead to implement a full and comprehensive corporate governance
framework.
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Executive Management Team

During the year we established an Executive Management Team comprising the following
permanent positions within the structure, to help establish and oversee strategic
performance:

− Acting Principal Commissioner − Steve Armitage
− Commissioner − Vacant during 2014−15
− Director, Strategic Research, Evaluation and Reporting − Julie Harcourt
− Director, Sector Partnership, Capacity and Governance − Max Wise and Lyle

Gerbich
− Manager, Marketing and Media − Melissa Nelson and Jess Daly
− Manager, Business Co−ordination Unit − David McCluney

The Executive Management Team met on ten occasions during the year. A focus of these
meetings is program level performance relative to our strategic plan and our financial
performance. Profiles of our Executive Management Team are contained in the appendices
to the report.

Audit and risk management committee
During the year our Executive Management Team also functioned as an Audit and Risk
Management Committee; taking the lead role in assessing risk areas and directing internal
audit activities. Although not compulsory under section 35 of the Financial and Performance
Management Standard 2009, in the year ahead we will establish an Audit and Risk
Management Committee (separate from the Executive Management Team).

Internal audit and reviews
The Corporate Administration Agency (CAA) was engaged to provide a range of services to
the QFCC under Service Level Agreement, including internal audit services. During the year
CAA's Internal Audit Manager reviewed our compliance with statutory functions and
corporate governance arrangements. The full audit report is due in early 2015−16. Given the
recent establishment of the QFCC, during the year we also arranged for two other significant
reviews:

The Health Check and Capability Review was commissioned to take of stock of
the QFCC (nine months after commencement) to determine how effective the
transition had been from the perspective of staff and to establish whether the
QFCC had sufficient and appropriately skilled staff to perform its functions. The
review identified that the morale of staff had been adversely affected by the
transition on 1 July 2014 and the lack of permanent appointments to the Principal
Commissioner and Commissioner roles. It also identified a capability gap and
associated risks related to QFCC's reliance on purchased services. All
recommendations from the review were accepted and are being implemented with
action overseen by the Executive Management Team.

2. The development of a Blueprint (QFCC narrative) was a key recommendation
from the Health Check and Capability Review. The Review found that 12 months
since establishment was an appropriate time in a new agency's lifecycle to
assess, in collaboration with staff and key external stakeholders, the established
priorities, preferred approach and progress to date. The work was of great value; it
confirmed support for our mandate and encouraged action, including adding
emphasis to areas such as oversight of the child protection system. The Blueprint
will be launched in 2015−16 and will re−affirm our commitment to staff,
stakeholders and the Queensland community, especially children and their
families.

−54−



ICT Steering Committee
The ICT Steering Committee met on 7 occasions during the year. Major issues on the
agenda of this important committee during the year have included:

− oversight of our managed ICT services
− migration of the Talking Families web platform
− assessing the need for an enterprise Customer Relationship Manager

application, and
− assessing the business need for a Community Services Directory (a key

Stronger Families recommendation for the QFCC).

The year ahead
Following the launch of the QFCC Blueprint in early 2015−16, we intend to review our
strategic and operational plans and implement a comprehensive governance framework and
strategies addressing medium to long term outcomes for our information management, ICT,
workforce management and assurance/integrity.
We will also appoint the first Advisory Council, as an ongoing means of engaging eminent
stakeholders from the community services sector in the QFCC's work and opening up
regular dialogue about the way in which the QFCC performs its role and functions.

Our Service Delivery Statement (SDS) was developed during the year; it aligns closely with
our core functions. Reporting in the year ahead will focus on the effectiveness of our public
education efforts.

11. Governance − workforce planning and performance

The QFCC's workforce was employed under the Public Service Act 2008, with the exception
of the Acting Principal Commissioner who was employed under the Family and Child
Commission Act 2014.

Workforce profile
As at 30 June 2015 the QFCC employed 40.85 FTEs, with total employee expenses for the
year of $4.535M. This is a significant reduction from the predecessor Commission, which in
2013−14 employed 192 FTE's with employee expenses of $27.349M. As at 30 June 2015 the
QFCC had the following staff profile:

− 70% female and 30% male
− 25% from a non−English speaking background or whose parents originated from a

non−English speaking background
− 7% Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander, and
− 2% identified as having a disability.
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Training

Cultural competency
During the year:

77% of QFCC staff completed Introduction to Aboriginal and Islander Culture
training, and
70% of QFCC staff completed Torres Strait Islander training.

The inability of all staff to complete this training was based on recent appointments and
absences when the training was offered. Building the cultural competency of our workforce is
critical to our success. In the year ahead we also expect the representation of Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islanders on our staff to increase.

Leadership development
During the year three staff (A08−S03) commenced the Public Service Commission's
Leadership Capability Assessment and Development course (LOAD). The course is
designed for team leaders and program managers and provides participants with an
independent assessment of leadership strengths and areas for development against the 13
leadership competencies, as well as readiness for greater leadership roles. Valid and
reliable data provides a picture of the leadership preferences and informs sector wide,
agency and individual development initiatives. By the end of 2015−16 all QFCC staffA08−S03

will have completed LOAD.

Other training provided
Code of conduct/ethics

The Public Sector Ethics Act 1994 specifies the ethics principles and values which guide
employee conduct and forms the basis for the single code of Conduct for the Queensland
Public Service (QPS). QFCC staff are covered by the single code of Conduct for the QPS.

It is a mandatory requirement for staff of the QFCC to undertake annual Code of Conduct
training/refresher training. Online training about the Code of Conduct has been scheduled
for all QFCC staff to complete during the period 10 June 2015 to 10 August 2015.

Early retirement, redundancy and retrenchment
During the period 1 employee received redundancy package at a cost of $287,810.38 (total
Gross payment).

Table 18. Separation rate percentage for the QFCC for 2014−015

3.03% 0.00% 2.94% 3.03% 9.00%
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Workforce planning, attraction and performance
In the year ahead we plan to develop a comprehensive workforce management strategy,
including elements addressing attraction generally and the targeted recruitment of Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islanders, induction, talent management, leadership development, staff
engagement, flexible work arrangements, employee entitlements, employee engagement,
training, performance and recognition. During the year it was identified the need for a Staff
Consultative Committee (SCC), as a key mechanism for engaging with and empowering our
staff. The SOC will report to the QFCC's Executive Management Team on initiatives relating
the culture of the QFCC and the development and satisfaction of our staff.

12. Governance −information management
During the year we implemented the Hewlett−Packard Records Management (HPRM)
application as a key business tool to facilitate compliance with the Public Records Act 2002,
Information Standard 40: ("Record keeping") and Information Standard 31 ("Retention and
Disposal of Public Records"). HPRM has been configured to prompt users on correct
security classification and allocation of categories linked to retention and disposal
requirements.
In the year ahead a post−implementation review will be undertaken and an Information
Management Strategy developed to confirm the intended business benefits have been
realised and set the direction for the medium to long term. This work will also help determine
key business processes supporting increased digital recordkeeping.
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PART 0 — APPENDICES

13. Glossary of terms

AEDC
Al HW
ARR
CAA
CBRC
CCYPCG

CFO
CGG
DCCSDS
eDRMS
FAA
FaCC
FPMS
FTE
HPRM
ICT
IFS
QATSCIPP
QCPCOI
QCPOI Report

RLG

Australian Early Development Census

Australian Institute for Health and Welfare
Annual Report Requirements for Queensland Government Agencies

Corporate Administration Agency
Cabinet Budget Review Committee
Commission for Children and Young People and Child Guardian (no longer
in existence − replaced by the QFCC)

Chief Finance Officer
Corporate Governance Group
Department of Communities, Child Safety and Disability Services

Electronic Document and Records Management System
Financial Accountability Act 2009
Family and Child Connect
Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009
Full−time equivalent
Hewlett−Packard Records Management
Information and communication technology

Intensive Family Support services
Queensland Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Child Protection Peak

Queensland Child Protection Commission of Inquiry
Queensland Child Protection Commission of Inquiry final report − Taking
Responsibility: A Roadmap for Queensland Child Protection

Reform Leaders Group
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14. Executive Management Team responsibilities
Acting Principal Commissioner − Steve Armitage
Provide strategic leadership and direction to the QFCC in effectively and efficiently
performing its functions in line with the Family and Child Commission Act 2014 to promote
the safety, wellbeing and best interests of children and young people and promote and
advocate the responsibility of families and communities for the protection and care of
children. The Principal Commissioner also plays a key role in improving the Queensland
child protection system.

Commissioner − Vacant during 2014−15
The Commissioner role was vacant during the year. Initial efforts to fill the role were
disrupted by the change of government in February 2015. The role was subsequentlyre−advertised

and as at 30 June 2015 the recruitment process was commenced.

Director, Strategic Research, Evaluation and Reporting − Julie Harcourt
Provide authoritative advice and recommendations to the Principal Commissioner,
Commissioner, government and non−government stakeholders about laws, policies,
practices and services that improve the safety and wellbeing of children and young people
and build family capacity to protect and care for children. Implement strategies, structures
and systems to effectively analyse and report on the performance of the child protection
system at a systemic level in relation to progress towards state and national goals and
comparisons overtime and with other jurisdictions.

Manager, Business Co−ordination Unit − David McCluney
Lead and manage the provision of advice and delivery of financial, human resource,
information and communication technology, information management, procurement and
asset management services. Manage the development of a range of systems, procedures
and associated policies necessary for the effective delivery of daily operations.

Director, Sector Partnerships, Capacity and Governance − Max Wise and Lyle Gerbich
Provide strategic direction on the development of innovative cross−sectoral partnership
strategies to build capacity of the sector including family support and child protection
services with particular focus on the interests and well−being of Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander children, young people and their families. Lead the development of acapacity−building

and governance strategy for non−government agencies, especially those with limited
resources, including improving relationships between government and non−government
agencies.

Manager, Marketing and Media − Melissa Nelson and Jess Daly
Provide the strategic framework for the delivery of marketing campaigns, media and
communication services which are responsive to the needs of the Principal Commissioner,
Executive Management team and the child protection system and are delivered in a timely,
efficient and cost effective manner. Liaise with a range of stakeholders including media
organisations, ministerial and departmental staff and representatives of Government,
community and non−government organisations in relation to media and marketing campaigns
which support the child protection system.
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ATTACHMENT A − ANNUAL REPORT COMPLIANCE CHECKLIST

Summary of requirement

Letter of A letter of compliance from the accountable
compliance officer or statutory body to the relevant

Minister/s;
Accessibility Table of contents

Glossary
Public availability

Interpreter service statement

General
information

Copyright notice

Information Licensing

Introductory Information

Basis for requirement

ARRs − section 8

ARRs − section 10.1

ARRs − section 10.2

Language Services Policy
ARRs−section 10.3

Copyright Act 1966
ARRs−section 10.4
QGEA − Information Licensing
ARRs − section 10.5
ARRs−section 11.1

Agency role and main functions ARRs − section 11.2
Operating environment ARRs − section 11.3
Machinery of government changes ARRs − section 11.4

Non−financial Government's objectives for the community ARRs − section 12.1
performance Other whole−of−government plans / specific ARRs − section 12.2

initiatives
Agency objectives and performance indicators ARRs − section 12.3
Agency service areas and service standards ARRs − section 12.4

Financial Summary of financial performance ARRs − section 13.1
performance
Governance − Organisational structure ARRs −section 14.1
management and Executive management ARRs − section 14.2
structure Government bodies (statutory bodies and ARRs − section 14.3

other entities)
Public Sector Ethics Act 1994 Public Sector Ethics Act 1994

ARRs − section 14.4
Governance − Risk management ARRs − section 15.1
risk management External scrutiny ARRs − section 15.2
and Audit committee ARRs − section 15.3
accountability Internal audit ARRs − section 15.4

Annual
Report

reference
Letter to
Premier, p.l

p. 3 and p. 58

Page after
cover
No − QFCC
not a
participating
statutory bod
Page after
cover
Page after
cover
p. 3−4

p. 5−7
P. 9−10
p. 5−6
p. 8−9
p.10−11

p. 6−7
p. 12−24
p. 52−53

p. 51
P. 59

p. 55−56

p. 54
N/A
p. 54
p. 54

Information systems and recordkeeping I ARRs −section 15.5 I P. 57

Governance − Workforce planning and performs
human Early retirement, redundancy and
resources retrenchment

Open Data

Financial
statements

Consultancies

Overseas travel

Queensland Language Services Policy

Government bodies

Certification of financial statements

Independent Auditors Report

Remuneration disclosures

− O C f l . , L I U I i f l U . i

Directive No. 11/12 Early
Retirement, Redundancy and
Retrenchment
ARRs − section 16.2
ARRs − section 17
ARRs − section 34.1
ARRs − section 17
ARRs − section 34.2
ARRs −section 17
ARRs − section 34.3
ARRs − section 17
ARRs − section 34.4
FAA − section 62
FPMS − sections 42, 43 and 50
ARRs−section 18.1
FAA − section 62
FPMS − section 50
ARRs−section 18.2
Financial Reporting
Requirements for Queensland
Government Agencies
ARRs − section 18.3

p.57
p. 56

p. 96−96

p. 77−80
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Summary of requirement

Child protection Queensland's performance in relation to
system achieving state and national goals
performance Queensland's performance overtime in
reporting relation to other jurisdictions

Queensland's progress in reducing the
number of, and improving the outcomes for,
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children
and young people in the child protection

Basis for requirement

QFCAA − section 40(1 )(a)(i)

Annual
Report

reference
p. 25−47

− section 40(1)(a)(ii) I P.

− section 40(1 )(a)(iii) I p. 47−50

FAA − Financial Accountability Act 2009
FPMS − Financial and Performance Management Standards 2009
ARRs − Annual report requirements for Queensland Government agencies
QFCCA − Family and Child Commission Act 2014 (section 40)
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QUEENSLAND FAMIL Y AND CHILD
COMMISSION

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the financial year ended 30 June 2015



QUEENSLAND F A M I L Y A N D CHILD COMMISSION
Financial Statements 201445

Contents

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Statement of Financial Position

Statement of Changes in Equity

Statement of Cash Flows

Notes To and Forming Part of the Financial Statements

Management Certificate

Independent Auditor's Report

General Information

Page No

3

4

5

6

7−32

33

34−35

This financial report covers the Queensland Family and Child Commission (the Commission).
It has no controlled entities.

The Commission is a statutory body established on 1 July 2014 as part of the Queensland
Government's response to the Queensland Child Protection Commission of Inquiry (Carmody
Inquiry). The Commission provides oversight of Queensland's child protection system to ensure
government and non−government agencies are delivering best practice services for the families
and children of Queensland.

The head office and principal place of business of the Commission is:
Level 22
53 Albert Street
Brisbane, Queensland 4000

A description of the nature of the Commission's operations and its principal activities are
included in the notes to the financial statements.

For information in relation to the Commission's financial report please contact the Chief
Operating Officer, Max Wise, on 07 3900 6005, email Max.Wiseqfcc.qld.gov.au.

Amounts shown in these financial statements may not add to the correct sub−totals or totals due
to rounding.
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~cerfiified~st~terjentsQUEENSLAND

F A M I L Y A N D CHILD COMMISSION
Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 30 June 2015

Income from Continuing Operations
Grants and other contributions
Interest

Total Income from Continuing Operations

Expenses from Continuing Operations
Employee expenses
Supplies and services
Grants and subsidies
Depreciation and amortisation
Other expenses

Total Expenses from Continuing Operations

Operating Result from Continuing Operations

Total Comprehensive Income

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.

Notes

2

3&4

5

6

2015
$'OOO

9,523
54

9,577

4,535
4,633

224
224

20

9,636

(59)

(59)
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QUEENSLAND F A M I L Y A N D CHILD COMMISSION
Statement of Financial Position
as at 30 June 2015

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Other current assets

Total Current Assets

Non−Current Assets
Intangible assets
Plant and equipment

Total Non−Current Assets

Total Assets

Current Liabilities
Payables
Accrued employee benefits

Total Current Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Net Assets

Equity
Contributed equity
Accumulated surplus

Total Equity

The accompanying notes form part o f these statements.

Notes

7

8

9

2015
$'oOO

407
127

5

539

1,204
247

1,451

1,990

279
143

422

422

1,568

1,627
(59)

1,568
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QUEENSLAND F A M I L Y A N D CHILD COMMISSION
Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2015

Balance as at 1 July 2014

Commission for Children and Young People and Child
Guardian transfer (Note 16)
Equity injection

Operating Result from Continuing Operations

Balance as at 30 June 2015

The accompanying notes form part o f these statements.

Accumulated Contributed
Surplus Equity

51000 $'OOO

2015 2015

TOTAL
$1000

2015

− 1,421 1,421

− 206 206

(59) − (59)

(59) 1,627 1,568
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QUEENSLAND F A M I L Y A N D CHILD COMMISSION
Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 2015

Cash flows from operating activities
Inflows.
Grants and other contributions
GST input tax credits from ATO
GST collected from customers
Interest receipts

Outflows:
Employee expenses
Supplies and services
GST paid to suppliers
GST remitted to ATO
Grants and subsidies
Other

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Outflows:
Payments for intangibles

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Inflows:
Equity Injections

Net cash provided by investing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash transferred on restructure
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year

The accompanying notesforni part of these statements.

Notes

12

2015

$1000

9,584
471

12
51

(4,892)
(5,181)

(524)
(2)

(224)
(20)

(725)

(432)

(432)

206

206

(951)
1,358

407
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QUEENSLAND F A M I L Y A N D CHILD COMMISSION
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2014−15

Note 1:
Note 2:
Note 3:
Note 4:
Note 5:
Note 6:
Note 7:
Note 8:
Note 9:
Note 10:
Note 11:
Note 12:
Note 13:
Note 14:
Note 15:
Note 16:

Note 17:

Objectives of the Commission
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Grants and Other Contributions
Employee Expenses
Key Management Personnel and Remuneration
Supplies and Services
Other Expenses
Receivables
Intangible Assets
Plant and Equipment
Payables
Accrued Employee Benefits
Reconciliation of Operating Result to Net Cash from (used in) Operating Activities
Non−Cash Financing and Investing Activities
Commitments for Expenditure
Financial Instruments
Amounts transferred from the former Commission for Children and Young People
and Child Guardian
Budget vs Actual Comparison
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QUEENSLAND F A M I L Y A N D CHILD COMMISSION
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2014−15

Objectives of the Commission
The Commission is a statutory body with a legislative mandate to:

• support a high quality, evidence based Queensland child protection and family support system;
• strengthen partnerships and collaboration between government and non−government

organisations to achieve better outcomes for children and families; and
• educate Queensland families and communities regarding their role in keeping children and young

people safe in the home and inform them about the resources available to assist them.

The Commission has a specific and consistent focus on representing the interests of Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander children, families and communities.

The Queensland Child Protection Commission of Inquiry (Carmody Inquiry) presented its final report
to the Queensland Government in July 2013. The report concluded that the existing system was not
ensuring the safety, wellbeing and best interests of children as well as it should. The Carmody
Inquiry's recommendations included the establishment of the Commission, which would be
responsible for the provision of oversight for the whole child protection system, including secondary
family services for vulnerable children and young people and their families. Additionally, it is
responsible for some of the systemic oversight and research functions of the former Commission for
Children and Young People and Child Guardian providing cross−sector and whole−of−government
leadership, advice and research for the child protection system and further refocussing the current
oversight of the child protection system as recommended by the Carmody Inquiry.

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Statement of Compliance
The Commission has prepared these financial statements in compliance with sections 43 and 44 of
the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009.

These financial statements are general purpose financial statements, and have been prepared on an
accrual basis in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations. In addition, the
financial statements comply with Queensland Treasury's Financial Reporting Requirements for the
year ending 30 June 2015, and other authoritative pronouncements.

With respect to compliance with Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, the
Commission has applied those requirements applicable to not−for−profit entities, as the Commission
is a not−for−profit entity. Except where stated, the historical cost convention is used.

(b) The Reporting Entity
The financial statements include the value of all income, expenses, assets, liabilities and equity of the
Commission.

(c) Grants
Grants, contributions, donations and gifts that are non−reciprocal in nature are recognised as revenue
in the year in which the Commission obtains control over them. Where grants are received that are
reciprocal in nature, revenue is recognised over the term of the funding arrangements.
Contributions of services are recognised only when a fair value can be determined reliably and the
services would be purchased if they had not been donated.
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QUEENSLAND F A M I L Y A N D CHILD COMMISSION
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 201445

1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (contd)
(d) Cash and Cash Equivalents
For the purposes of the Statement of Financial Position and the Statement of Cash Flows, cash assets
include all cash and cheques receipted but not banked at 30 June as well as deposits at call with
financial institutions.

(e) Receivables
Trade debtors are recognised at the amounts due at the time of sale or service delivery i.e. the agreed
purchase/contract price. Settlement of these amounts is.required within 30 days from invoice date.

The collectability of receivables is assessed at least annually with provision being made for
impairment.

(1) Acquisitions of Assets
Actual cost is used for the initial recording of all non−current physical and intangible asset
acquisitions. Cost is determined as the value given as consideration plus costs incidental to the
acquisition, including all other costs incurred in getting the assets ready for use, including architects
fees and engineering design fees. However, any training costs are expensed as incurred.

Assets acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, other than from an involuntary transfer from
another Queensland Government entity, are recognised at their fair value at date of acquisition in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 116 Properly, Plant and Equipment.

(g) Plant and Equipment
Items of plant and equipment with a cost equal to or in excess of the following thresholds are
recognised for financial reporting purposes in the year of acquisition:

Computer Hardware $5,000
Office Equipment $5,000
Leasehold Improvements $5,000

Plant and equipment is measured at cost in accordance with Queensland Treasury's Non−Current
Asset Policies for the Queensland Public Sector. Items with a lesser value are expensed in the year of
acquisition.

(h) Intangibles
Internally Generated Software
Intangible assets with a cost or other value greater than $100,000 are recognised in the financial
statements. Items with a lesser value are expensed. Each intangible asset is amortised over its
estimated useful life to the Commission, less any anticipated residual value. The residual value is
zero for all of the Commission's intangible assets.

−9−



st ate me nts

QUEENSLAND F A M I L Y A N D CHILD COMMISSION
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2014−15

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (contd)
(h) Intangibles (contd)
It has been determined that there is not an active market for any of the Commission's intangible
assets. As such, the assets are recognised and carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses.

Expenditure on research activities relating to internally−generated intangible assets is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Costs that are directly attributable to the development of computer software are capitalised and are
amortised on a straight−line basis over the period of expected benefit to the Commission, namely
seven years.

(i) Amortisation and Depreciation of Intangibles and Plant and Equipment
Plant and equipment is depreciated and intangibles are amortised on a straight−line basis so as to
allocate the net cost of each asset, less its estimated residual value, progressively over its estimated
useful life to the Commission.

Assets under construction (work−in−progress) are not depreciated or amortised until they reach service
delivery capacity. Service delivery capacity relates to when construction is complete and the asset is
first put to use or is installed ready for use in accordance with its intended application. The assets are
then reclassified to the relevant classes within plant and equipment.

Any expenditure that increases the originally assessed capacity or service potential of an asset is
capitalised and the new depreciable amount is depreciated over the remaining useful life of the asset
to the Commission.

The depreciable amount of leasehold improvements is allocated progressively over the unexpired
period of the lease. The unexpired period of a lease includes any option period where exercise of the
option is probable.

For each class of depreciable asset the following depreciation and amortisation rates are used:

Class Rate

Plant and equipment:
Computer Hardware 10−20%
Office Equipment 10−20%
Leasehold Improvements

Office Fitouts 10%
Intangibles

Software Internally Generated 15%
Software Purchased 15%

−10−
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QUEENSLAND F A M I L Y A N D CHILD COMMISSION
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2014−15

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (contd)
U) Impairment of Non−Current Assets
All non−current physical and intangible assets are assessed for indicators of impairment on an annual
basis. If an indicator of possible impairment exists, the Commission determines the asset's
recoverable amount. Any amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds the recoverable
amount is recorded as an impairment loss.

The asset's recoverable amount is determined as the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell
and depreciated replacement cost.

An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, unless the
asset is carried at a revalued amount. When the asset is measured at a revalued amount, the
impairment loss is offset against the asset revaluation surplus of the relevant class to the extent
available.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income, unless the asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase.

(k) Leases
A distinction is made in the financial statements between finance leases that effectively transfer from
the lessor to the lessee substantially all risks and benefits incidental to ownership, and operating
leases, under which the lessor retains substantially all risks and benefits.

(I) Payables
Trade creditors are recognised upon receipt of the goods or services ordered and are measured at the
nominal amount i.e. agreed purchase/contract price, gross of applicable trade and other discounts.
Amounts owing are unsecured and are generally settled on 30 day terms.

(m) Financial Instruments
Recognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when
the Commission becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

Classification
Financial instruments are classified and measured as follows:

• Cash and cash equivalents − held at fair value through profit and loss
• Receivables − held at amortised cost
• Payables − held at amortised cost
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QUEENSLAND F A M I L Y A N D CHILD COMMISSION
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2014−15

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (contd)
(m) Financial Instruments (contd)
The Commission does not enter into transactions for speculative purposes, nor for hedging. Apart
from cash and cash equivalents, the Commission holds no financial assets classified at fair value
through profit and loss.

All disclosures relating to the measurement and financial risk management of other financial
instruments held by the Commission are included in Note 15.

(n) Employee Benefits
Employer superannuation contributions, annual leave and long service leave levies are regarded as
employee benefits.

Payroll tax and workers' compensation insurance are a consequence of employing employees, but are
not counted in an employee's total remuneration package. They are not employee benefits and are
recognised separately as employee related expenses.

Wages, Salaries, and Sick Leave
Wages and salaries due but unpaid at reporting date are recognised in the Statement of Financial
Position at current salary rates.

The Commission classifies salaries and wages, sick leave, annual leave and long service leave levies
and employer superannuation contributions as employee benefits in accordance with AASB 119
Employee Benefits (Note 11). Wages and salaries due but unpaid at reporting date are recognised in
the Statement of Financial Position at current salary rates. As the Commission expects such liabilities
to be wholly settled within 12 months of reporting date, the liabilities are recognised at undiscounted
amounts.

As sick leave is non−vesting, an expense is recognised for this leave as it is taken.

Annual Leave and Long Service Leave
Under the Queensland Government's Annual Leave Central Scheme and Long Service Leave Central
Scheme, levies are payable by the Commission to cover the cost of employees' annual leave −
including leave loading and on−costs − and long service leave. The provisions for these schemes are
reported on a whole−of−government basis pursuant to AASB 1049 Whole o f Government and
General Government Sector Financial Reporting. These levies are expensed in the period in which
they are paid or payable. Amounts paid to employees for annual leave and long service leave are
claimed from the scheme quarterly in arrears.

Superannuation
Employer superannuation contributions are paid to QSuper, the superannuation scheme for
Queensland Government employees, at rates determined by the Treasurer on the advice of the State
Actuary. Contributions are expensed in the period in which they are paid or payable. The
Commission's obligation is limited to its contribution to QSuper.

−12−



QAO
ments

Q U E E N S L A N D F A M I L Y A N D CHILD COMMISSION
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 201445

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (contd)
(n) Employee Benefits (contd)
The QSuper scheme has defined benefit and defined contribution categories. The liability for defined
benefits is held on a whole−of−government basis and reported in the financial statements pursuant to
AASB 1049 Whole o f Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting.

(o) Key Management Personnel and Remuneration
Key management personnel and remuneration disclosures are made in accordance with section 5 of
the Financial Reporting Requirements for Queensland Government Agencies issued by Queensland
Treasury. Refer to Note 4 for the disclosures on key management personnel and remuneration.

(p) Insurance
The Commissions non−current physical assets and other risks are insured through the Queensland
Government Insurance Fund (QGIF), premiums being paid on a risk assessment basis. In addition,
the Commission pays premiums to WorkCover Queensland in respect of its obligations for employee
compensation.

(q) Contributed Equity
Non−reciprocal transfers of assets and liabilities between wholly−owned Queensland State Public
Sector entities as a result of machinery−of−Government changes are adjusted to Contributed Equity in
accordance with Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly−Owned Public Sector
Entities.

(r) Taxation
The Commission is a State body as defined under the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 and is
exempt from Commonwealth taxation with the exception of Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT) and Goods
and Services Tax (GST).

FBT and GST are the only taxes accounted for by the Commission. GST credits receivable from, and
GST payable to the ATO, are recognised (refer to Note 7).

(s) Issuance of Financial Statements
The financial statements are authorised for issue by the Acting Principal Commissioner, and the
Acting Chief Operating Officer at the date of signing the Management Certificate.

(t) Accounting Estimates and Judgements
The preparation of financial statements necessarily requires the determination and use of certain
critical accounting estimates, assumptions, and management judgements that have the potential to
cause a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year. Such estimates, judgements and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in
future periods as relevant.

13−
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Q U E E N S L A N D F A M I L Y A N D CHILD COMMISSION
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2014−15

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (contd)
(u) Currency and Rounding
Amounts included in the financial statements are in Australian dollars and have been rounded to the
nearest $1,000 or, where that amount is $500 or less, to zero unless disclosure of the full amount is
specifically required.

(v) New and Revised Accounting Standards
The Commission is not permitted to early adopt new or amended accounting standards ahead of the
specified commencement date unless approval is obtained from Queensland Treasury. The
Commission has not sought approval from Queensland Treasury and therefore applies standards and
interpretations in accordance with their respective commencement dates.

At the date of authorisation of the financial report, all Australian Accounting Standards with future
commencement dates are either not applicable or have no material impact.

AASB 1055 Budgetary Reporting became effective from reporting periods beginning on or after I
July 2014. In response to this new standard, the Commission has included in these financial
statements a comprehensive new note 'Budget vs Actual Comparison' (Note 17). This note discloses
the Commission's original published budget figures for 2014−15 compared to actual results, with
explanations of major variances, in respect of the Commission's Statement of Comprehensive
Income, Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Cash Flows.

−14−
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Q U E E N S L A N D F A M I L Y A N D CHILD COMMISSION
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 201445

2. Grants and Other Contributions

Grants received from the Department of the Premier and Cabinet
Grants received from the Department of Communities, Child Safety and
Disability Services

Total

3. Employee Expenses
Employee Benefits
Wages and salaries
Employer superannuation contributions
Annual leave levy
Long service leave levy
Redundancies

Employee Related Expenses
Workers compensation premium
Payroll tax
Other employee related expenses

Total

2015
$,000

9,423

100

9,523

3,179
441
337

73
178

20
193
114

4,535

The number of employees including both full−time employees and part−time employees
measured on a full−time equivalent basis (reflecting Minimum Obligatory Human
Resource Information (MOHRI)) is:

2015

Number of Employees: 40.85
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QUEENSLAND F A M I L Y A N D CHILD COMMISSION
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2014−15

4. Key Management Personnel and Remuneration
(a) Key Management Personnel
The following details for key management personnel include those positions that had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and
controlling the activities of the Commission during 2014−15. Further information on these positions can be found in the body of the Annual
Report under the section relating to Executive Management.

Current incumbents
Position Responsibilities Contract classification and appointment Date appointed to position (Date resigned

authority from position)
Principal Commissioner Provide strategic and cross sectoral leadership and direction to SES4, appointed under the Family and Child CommLcsion Act 2014 1 July 2014

government and non−government agencies to promote laws,
policies, practices and services that build the capacity o f the sector
and the child protection workforce and drive the achievement of
the child protection system.
Provide expert advice on current research and child protection
practice to improve the safety and wellbeing o f children and young
people, build the capacity and improve the perfonnance o f the
child protection system.

Director, Strategic Research, Evaluation and Strategically lead and provide direction to the Strategic Research, S03, appointed under the Family and Child Commission Act 2014 1 July 2014
Reporting Evaluation and Reporting Program to and Public Service Ac! 2008.

• provide oversight o f and public reporting about the Child
Protection and Family Support systems

provide strategic policy advice, research and advocacy on child
protection matters
• assist line agencies and non−government organisations in
evaluating the efficacy o f programs relating to child protection and
identify effective service models, and

strategically monitor and report on the performance o f the child
protection system at a systemic level in relation to progress
towards state and national goals and comparisons with other
jurisdictions.

−16−
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4. Key Management Personnel a n d Remunera t ion (contd)
(a) Key Management Personnel (contd)

Current Incumbents
Position Responsibilities Contract classification and appointment Date appointed to position (Date resigned

authority from position)
# Director, Sector Partnerships, Capacity and Strategically lead and manage the direction o f the Sector S03, appointed under the Family and Child Commission Act 2014 I July 2014
Governance Partnerships, Capacity and Governance Program to: and Public Service Act 2008

build community capacity and improve outcomes for vulnerable
children and young people, including faintly capacity to protect
and care for their children with particular focus on the interests
and well−being o f Aboriginal and Tones Strait Islander fhnsilies,
through multidisciplinary programs developed and implemented in
partnership with relevant government and non−government
agencies

develop and implement strategies that will assist non−government
family support and child protection providers build capacity and

governance capability, and
lead the development and implementation o f a workforce

planning, development, and cultural change strategies across
government and non−government agencies to build the capacity of
the sector to deliver child protection and family support services.

Manager, Marketing and Media Provide leadership and authoritative advice on marketing, A08, appointed under the Faniilv and Child Commission Act 2014 1 July 2014
communication and media services to the Queensland Family and and Public Service Act 20/4.
Child Commission to meet client needs

−
Work with relevant stakeholders (government andnoel−government)

to deliver effective strategic Outcomes in the areas of
marketing, public relations and education campaigns to promote
the safety and wellbeing o f children and young people and
highlight the importance o f family in the protection and care of
children.

Manager, Business Coordination Lead and manage the business coordination team in the delivery o f A08, appointed under the Family and Child Commission Act 2 0 / 4 1 July 2014
efficient and effective services to the Queensland Family and and Public Service Ac! 20/4,
Child Commission in relation to finance, human resources,
information and communication technology, information
management, procurement and asset management.

# From 1 July, 2015 the Director, Sector Partnerships, Capacity and Governance has been acting as the Chief Operating Officer, Queensland Family and Child Commission. This was a new
position created effective from this date.

− 1 7 −
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QUEENSLAND FAMILY AND CHILD COMMISSION

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2014−15

4. Key Management Personnel and Remuneration (contd)
(b) Remuneration
Remuneration for the Principal Commissioner is set by the Governor in Council in accordance with Division 3, Family and Child Commission
Act 2014. The remuneration and other terms of employment for the other key executive management personnel are in accordance with directives
issued under the Public Service Act 2008 by the Public Service Commission Chief Executive or the minister responsible for public sector
industrial relations.

For the 2014−15 year, remuneration of key management personnel increased by 2.2% in accordance with government policy.

Remuneration for key management personnel comprises the following components:
• Short term employee expenses which include the salaries, allowances and leave entitlements earned and expensed for the entire year or for

that part of the year during which the employee occupied the specified position;
• Long term employee expenses include amounts expensed in respect of long service leave entitlements earned;
• Post−employment expenses include superannuation contributions;
• Termination benefits are not provided for within the terms of employment. Terms of employment provide only for notice periods or payment

in lieu of notice on termination, regardless of the reason for termination; and
• Performance bonuses are not paid.

−18−
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QUEENSLAND FAMIL Y A N D CHILD COMMISSION
N O T E S T O AND F O R M I N G P A R T O F T H E FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2014−15

4. Key Management Personnel a n d Remunera t ion (contd)
(b) Remunera t ion (contd)

1 Ju ly 2 0 1 4−3 0 J u n e 2015

Position Short Term Employee Expenses Long Term Employee Post−Employment Termination Total Expenses
(date resigned if applicable) Expenses Expenses Benefits

Monetary Non−Monetary
Expenses Benefits $'000 91000 s 0 0 0 s'000

$'OOO $000

Principal Commissioner 225 0 5 25 0 255

Director, Strategic Research, Evaluation and Reporting 140 0 4 17 0 160

Director, Sector Partnerships, Capacity and Governance 69 0 12 12 0 92
Acting Director, Sector Partnerships, Capacity and
Governance (acting period 10 November 2014 to 30
June 2015) 70 0 1 8 0 79
Manager, Marketing and Media

74 0 2 11 0 87
Acting Manager, Marketing and Media (acting period
22 January 2015 to 30 June 2015) 49 0 1 6 0 56
Manager, Business Coordination 108 0 2 14 0 125
Total Remuneration 734 0 26 92 0 852

−19−
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Q U E E N S L A N D F A M I L Y A N D C H I L D COMMISSION
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2014−15

5. Supplies and Services
Building services
Administration costs
Contractors and consultants
Corporate services provider costs
Telecommunications
Advertising and promotions
Travel
Minor plant and equipment
Repairs and maintenance
Other

Total

6. Other Expenses
Insurance premiums (QGIF)
External audit fees *

Total

2015
$'OOO

1,871
27

407
629
45

1,537
51
41
13
12

4,633

4
16

20

* Total audit fees payable to the Queensland Audit Office relating to the 2014−15 financial
statements are quoted to be $16,000. There are no non−audit services included in this
amount.

7, Receivables
Trade debtors
Less: Allowance for impairment loss

GST receivable
GST payable
Annual leave reimbursements
Long service leave reimbursement
Other receivables
Grants receivable

Total

16

16

53
(10)
53

7
8

127

− 2 0 −



QUEENSLAND F A M I L Y A N D CHILD COMMISSION
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2014−15

8. Intangible Assets

Software Purchased: At cost
Gross
Less: Accumulated amortisation

Software internally Generated: At cost
Gross
Less: Accumulated amortisation

Total

Intangibles Reconciliation

Carrying amount at 1 July
Acquisitions
Transfers in from the former Commission for
Children and Young People and Child Guardian
Amortisation

Carrying amount at 30 June

Software
Purchased

2015

5'OOO

433

(34)

Software
Internally
Generated

2015

5'OOO

969
(164)

2015
$1000

433
(34)

399

1,146
(341)

805

1,204

Total
2015

$,000

433

969
(197)

399 805 1,204
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QUEENSLAND F A M I L Y A N D CHILD COMMISSION
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2014−15

9. Plant and Equipment
Plant and equipment

At cost
Less: Accumulated depreciation

Total

Plant and Equipment Reconciliation

Carrying amount at 1 July
Transfers in from the former Commission for
Children and Young People and Child Guardian
Depreciation

Carrying amount at 30 June

10. Payables
Trade creditors
Other

Total

11. Accrued Employee Benefits
Current
Salaries and wages outstanding
Annual leave levy payable
Long service leave levy payable

Total

Plant and
equipment

2015
$1000

275
(28)

247

2015
$1000

280
(33)

247

Total
2015

$,000

275
(28)

247

256
23

279

32
92
19

143

−22−
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QUEENSLAND FAMILY AND CHILD COMMISSION
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2014−15

12. Reconciliation of Operating Result to Net Cash from (used in)
Operating Activities

Operating Result

Depreciation and amortisation expense
Payment of net liabilities transferred from the former Commission for
Children and Young People and Child Guardian

Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) in receivables
(Increase)/decrease in GST input tax credits receivable
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments
Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable
Increase in accrued employee benefits
Increase in GST payable

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

13. Non−Cash Financing and Investing Activities

2015
$,000

(59)

224

(1,180)

(84)
(53)

(5)
279
143

10

(725)

Assets and liabilities received by the Commission from the former Commission for Children
and Young People and Child Guardian are set out in Note 16.

−23−
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Q U E E N S L A N D F A M I L Y A N D C H I L D COMMISSION
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2014−15

14. Commitments for Expenditure
(a) Non−Cancellable Operating Lease
Commitments under operating leases at reporting date are inclusive of
anticipated OST and are payable as follows:

Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years

Total

2015
$,000

1,132
2,877
1,300

5,309

Operating leases are entered into as a means of acquiring access to office accommodation.
Lease payments are generally fixed, but with inflation escalation clauses on which
contingent rentals are determined.

(b) Other expenditure commitments
Material expenditure commitments inclusive of anticipated GST, contracted for at reporting
date but not recognised in the accounts are payable as follows:

Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years

Total

1,383
611

1,994

−24−
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Q U E E N S L A N D F A M I L Y A N D C H I L D COMMISSION
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2014−15

15, Financial Instruments
(a) Categorisation o f Financial Instruments

The Commission has the following categories of financial assets and liabilities:

2015

Category Note $'OOO

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 407
Receivables 7 127

Total 534

Financial Liabilities
Payables 10 279

Total 279

(b) Financial Risk Management
The Commission's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks − liquidity risk,
market risk and interest rate risk.

The Commission provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as
policies covering specific areas. These policies focus on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seek to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of
the Commission.

All financial risk is managed through policies approved by the Commissioner.

Credit risk exposure refers to the situation where the Commission may incur financial
loss as a result of another party to a financial instrument failing to discharge their
obligation.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date in relation to each class of
recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any
provisions for impairment.

25



QAOc(::
ertified statements

QUEENSLAND FAMILY AND CHILD COMMISSION
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2014−15

15. Financial Instruments (contd)
(c) Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk refers to the situation where the Commission may encounter difficulty in
meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities that are settled by delivering
cash or another financial asset.

The Commission manages liquidity risk through the use of a liquidity management
strategy. This strategy aims to reduce the exposure to liquidity risk by ensuring the
Commission has sufficient funds available to meet employee and supplier obligations
as they fall due. This is achieved by ensuring that adequate levels of cash are held
within the various bank accounts so as to match the expected duration of the various
employee and supplier liabilities.

The following table sets out the liquidity risk of financial liabilities held by the
Commission. It represents the contractual maturity of financial liabilities, calculated
based on undiscounted cash flows relating to the liabilities at reporting date.

2015 PayabJes in
<lyear 1−5 years >5 years

Note $'OOO $'OOO $000

Financial Liabilities
Payables 10 279

Total 279 − −

(d) Market Risk
The Commission does not trade in foreign currency and is not exposed to commodity
price changes. The Commission is exposed to interest rate risk through cash deposited
in interest bearing accounts.

−26 −
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Q U E E N S L A N D F A M I L Y A N D CHILD COMMISSION
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2014−15

15. Financial Instruments (contd)
(e) Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis

The Commission has an exposure to variable interest rates on cash deposited in interest
bearing accounts. The following interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on a report
similar to that provided to management, depicting the outcome on the operating result if
interest rates would change by +1− 1% from the year−end rates applicable to the
Commission's financial assets and liabilities. With all other variables held constant, the
Commission would have a surplus and equity increase/(decrease) of $4,000.

Amount 2015 Interest rate risk
Financial Instruments − 1 % +1%

Profit Equity Profit Equity
$1000

Cash 407 (4) (4) 4 4

Potential Impact (4) (4) 4 4

(0 Fair Value
The carrying amounts of receivables and payables, less any allowance for impairment,
represent fair value at the balance date.
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QUEENSLAND F A M I L Y A N D CHILD COMMISSION
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2014−15

16. Amounts transferred from the former Commission for Children and Young
People and Child Guardian

The following amounts were transferred to the Commission from the former
Commission for Children and Young People and Child Guardian on 1 July 2014.

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Other current assets

Total Current Assets

Non−Current Assets
Intangible assets
Plant and equipment

Total Non−Current Assets

Total Assets

Current Liabilities
Payables
Accrued employee benefits

Total Current Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Net Assets

2015
$'OOO

1,358
19
3

1,380

969
274

1,243

2,623

728
474

1,202

1,202

1,421

−28−



edstateflefltS

Q U E E N S L A N D F A M I L Y A N D CHILD COMMISSION
NOTES TO AND FORMING FART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2014−15

17, Budget vs Actual Comparison

NB. A budget vs actual comparison, and explanations for major variances, has not been
included f o r the Statement o f Changes in Equity, as major variances relating to that statement
have been addressed in explanations o f major variances for other statements.

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Income from Continuing Operations
Grants and other contributions
Other revenue

Total Income from Continuing
Operations

Expenses from Continuing
Operations
Employee expenses
Supplies and services
Grants and subsidies
Depreciation and amortisation
Other expenses

Total Expenses from Continuing
Operations

Operating Result from Continuing
Operations

Original
Budget Actual

Variance 2015 2015
Notes $'OOO $000

1 10,534 9,523

− 54

10,534 9,577

2 4,949 4,535
3 5,380 4,633

− 224
185 224
20 20

10,534 9,636

− (59)

Variance Variance
$'OOO % of Budget

(1,011) (10%)
54 100%

(957) (9%)

414 8%
747 14%

(224) (100%)
(39) (21%)

− 0%

898 9%

(59) 100%

Total Comprehensive Income − (59) (59) 100%
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QUEENSLAND F A M I L Y A N D CHILD COMMISSION
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2014−15

17. Budget vs Actual Comparison (contd)

Statement of Financial Position

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Other

Total Current Assets

Non−Current Assets
Intangible assets
Plant and equipment

Total Non−Current Assets

Total Assets

Current Liabilities
Payables
Accrued employee benefits

Total Current Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Net Assets

Equity
Contributed equity
Accumulated surplus

Total Equity

Original

Budget

Variance 2015

Notes $000

4 975
28

1,003

5
6

784

784

1,787

Actual

2015
$1000

407
127

5

539

1,204
247

1,451

1,990

176 279
7 464 143

640 422

640 422

1,147 1,568

Variance Variance

$'OOO % o f Budget

(568) (58%)
99 354%

5 100%

(464) (46%)

420
247

667

203

54%
100%

85%

11%

(103) (59%)
321 69%

218 34%

218 34%

421 37%

8 1,147 1,627 480 42%

− (59) (59) 100%

1,147 1,568 421 37%
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QUEENSLAND F A M I L Y A N D CHILD COMMISSION
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF T H E F I N A N C I A L STATEMENTS 2014−15

17. Budget vs Actual Comparison (contd)

Statement of Cash Flows

Cash flows from operating activities
Inflows:
Grants and other contributions
GST input tax credits from ATO
G S T collected from customers
Interest receipts
Other
Outflows:
Employee expenses
Supplies and services
GST paid to suppliers
GST remitted to ATO
Grants and subsidies
Other

Ne t cash (used in) operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Outflows:
Payments for intangibles

Net cash (used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Inflows:
Equity Injections

Ne t cash provided by financing activities

Net (decrease) in cash held
Cash transferred on restructure
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
financial year

C a s h and cash equivalents a t end of
financial year

Original
Budget

Variance 2015
Notes $000

9

12

13

14

Actual
2015 Variance Variance
$'OOO $ 0 0 0 % of Budget

10,534 9,584

− 471

− 12

− 51
314 −

(5,065) (4,892)
(5,721) (5,181)

− (524)

− (2)

− (224)
(2) (20)

(950)
471

12
51

(314)

173
540

(524)
(2)

(224)
(18)

(9%)
100%
100%
100%

(100%)

3%
9%

(100%)
(100%)
(100%)
(900%)

60 (725) (785) (1308%)

− (432) (432) (100%)

− (432) (432) 100%

− 206 206 100%

− 206 206 100%

60 (951) (1,011) (1685%)
915 1,358 443 48%

0%

975 40 (568) (58%)
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QUEENSLA ND F A M I L Y A N D CHILD COMMISSION
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2014−15

17. Budget vs Actual Comparison (contd)

Explanations of Major Variances

Statement of Comprehensive Income
1. Grants and other contributions is lower primarily due to an amount of $1.111 million

unspent grant funding being deferred to the 2015−16 financial year.

2. Employee expenses is lower primarily due to a number of positions remaining unfilled
during the 2014−15 financial year.

3. Supplies and services is lower due to expenditure for the Public Education strategy
and Evaluation Framework programs of $0847 million being deferred to the 2015−16
financial year, offset by other net over−expenditure of $0099 million.

Statement of Financial Position
4. Cash and cash equivalents is lower primarily due to the cash held to fund recreation

leave liabilities being transferred to the Annual Leave Central Scheme.

5. Intangible assets is higher due to expenditure incurred on the HP Records
Management system.

6. Plant and equipment is higher due to the transfer in of a lease fit−out asset from the
Commission for Children and Young People and Child Guardian upon cessation of
that entity.

7. Accrued employee benefits is lower primarily due to recreation leave liabilities being
transferred to the Annual Leave Central Scheme.

8. Contributed equity is higher primarily due to the transfer in of a lease fit−out asset
from the Commission for Children and Young People and Child Guardian upon
cessation of that entity.

Statement of Cash Flows
9. Grants and other contributions is lower primarily due to an amount of $1.111 million

unspent grant funding being deferred to the 2015−16 financial year.
10. Employee expenses is lower primarily due to a number of positions remaining unfilled

during the 2014−15 financial year, offset by cash held for recreation leave liabilities
being transferred to the Annual Leave Central Scheme.

11. Supplies and services is lower due to deferral of program expenditure to the 2015−16
financial year and capitalisation of expenditure for the HP Records Management
system, together with OST paid to suppliers being included in the supplies and
services line item budget figure.

12. Payments for intangibles is higher due to expenditure incurred on the HP Records
Management system.

13. Decrease in cash held primarily due to the cash to fund recreation leave liabilities
being transferred to the Annual Leave Central Scheme.

14. Increase in cash transferred on restructure is due to increase in net liabilities
transferred.
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CERTIFICATE OF THE QUEENSLAND FAMILY AND CHILD COMMISSION
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared pursuant to section 62(1) of the Financial
Accountability Act 2009 (the Act), relevant sections of the Financial and Performance Management
Standard 2009 and other prescribed requirements. In accordance with section 62(1 )(b) of the Act we certify
that in our opinion:

(i) the prescribed requirements for establishing and keeping the accounts have been complied with in all
material respects; and

(ii) the statements have been drawn up to present a true and fair view, in accordance with prescribed
accounting standards, of the transactions of the Queensland Family and Child Commission for the
financial year ended 30 June 2015 and of the financial position of the Commission at the end of that
year; and

(iii) these assertions are based on an appropriate system of internal controls and risk management processes
being effective, in all material respects, with respect to financial reporting throughout the reporting
period.

David McCluney, B .Bus(Acc), GradDipAdvAcc
Acting Chief Operating Officer
Queensland Family and Child Commission

Date:

Max Wise, LLB, BA
Acting Principal Commissioner
Queensland Family and Child Commission

Date:
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Acting Principal Commissioner of the Queensland Family and Child Commission

Report on the Financial Report

I have audited the accompanying financial report of the Queensland Family and Child
Commission, which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2015, the
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information, and certificates given by Acting Principal Commissioner and
Acting Chief Operating Officer.

The Acting Principal Commissioner's Responsibility for the Financial Report

The Acting Principal Commissioner is responsible for the preparation of the financial report
that gives a true and fair view in accordance with prescribed accounting requirements
identified in the Financial Accountability Act 2009 and the Financial and Performance
Management Standard 2009, including compliance with Australian Accounting Standards.
The Acting Principal Commissioner's responsibility also includes such internal control as the
Acting Principal Commissioner determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

My responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on the audit. The audit
was conducted in accordance with the Auditor−General of Queensland Auditing Standards,
which incorporate the Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require compliance
with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and that the audit is planned
and performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entity's preparation of the financial report that gives a true and
fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control,
other than in expressing an opinion on compliance with prescribed requirements. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Acting Principal Commissioner, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report including any mandatory financial
reporting requirements approved by the Treasurer for application in Queensland.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
my audit opinion.



Independence

The Auditor−General Act 2009 promotes the independence of the Auditor−General and all
authorised auditors. The Auditor−General is the auditor of all Queensland public sector entities
and can be removed only by Parliament.

The Auditor−General may conduct an audit in any way considered appropriate and is not
subject to direction by any person about the way in which audit powers are to be exercised.
The Auditor−General has for the purposes of conducting an audit, access to all documents and
property and can report to Parliament matters which in the Auditor−General's opinion are
significant.

Opinion

In accordance with s.40 of the Auditor−General Act2009—(a)

I have received all the information and explanations which I have required; and
(b) in my opinion −

(i) the prescribed requirements in relation to the establishment and keeping of
accounts have been complied with in all material respects; and

(ii) the financial report presents a true and fair view, in accordance with the
prescribed accounting standards, of the transactions of the Queensland Family
and Child Commission for the financial year 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015 and of
the financial position as at the end of that year.

Other Matters Electronic Presentation of the Audited Financial Report

Those viewing an electronic presentation of these financial statements should note that audit
does not provide assurance on the integrity of the information presented electronically and does
not provide an opinion on any information which may be hyperlinked to or from the financial
statements. If users of the financial statements are concerned with the inherent risks arising
from electronic presentation of information, they are advised to refer to the printed copy of the
audited financial statements to confirm the accuracy of this electronically pre mation.

R GENERAL

\ 31AU62015
LFQUEENSI−ENSL

A M GREAVES FCKFtPA Queensland Audit Office
Auditor−Gèteral of Queensland Brisbane



Overseas travel
Officer/position

Steve Armitage
Principal
Commissioner

Consultancies

Destination Reason

New Obtain information
Zealand and learn ings from

the way the family
support and child
protection system
is designed in that
jurisdiction.

Category of consultancy service purchased
by QFCC

Nil

Agency
cost

$2,592.09

Number of
consultancies
engaged for each
category of
service

Contributions
from other
agencies or
services
Nil

Overall
expenditure on
consultancies
for category of
service


